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PART I

 
Item 1. Financial Statements
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General
 
The basic financial statements included herein have been prepared by Registrant, without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities

and Exchange Commission.
 
Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements, prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America, have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. In the opinion of management, all
adjustments consisting of normal recurring items and estimates necessary for a fair statement of results for the interim period have been made.

 
It is suggested that these financial statements be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto in the latest Annual Report on

Form 10-K of American States Water Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Golden State Water Company.
 
Filing Format
 
This quarterly report on Form 10-Q is a combined report being filed by two separate Registrants: American States Water Company (hereinafter

“AWR”) and Golden State Water Company (hereinafter “GSWC”) (formerly known as Southern California Water Company). For more information, please
see Note 1 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and the heading entitled General in Item 2 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operation. References in this report to “Registrant” are to AWR and GSWC collectively, unless otherwise specified.
GSWC makes no representations as to the information contained in this report relating to AWR and its subsidiaries, other than GSWC.
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
ASSETS

(Unaudited)
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

(in thousands)
 

2005
 

2004
 

      
Utility Plant, at cost

     

Water
 

$ 806,873
 

$ 778,238
 

Electric
 

58,670
 

58,667
 

 

 

865,543
 

836,905
 

Less - Accumulated depreciation
 

(257,622) (241,717)
 

 

607,921
 

595,188
 

Construction work in progress
 

90,309
 

68,977
 

Net utility plant
 

698,230
 

664,165
 

      
Other Property and Investments

     

Goodwill
 

11,862
 

11,925
 

Other property and investments
 

9,765
 

9,792
 

Total other property and investments
 

21,627
 

21,717
 

      
Current Assets

     

Cash and cash equivalents
 

5,691
 

4,303
 

Accounts receivable-customers (less allowance for doubtful
accounts of $750 in 2005 and $782 in 2004)

 

15,209
 

10,970
 

Unbilled revenue
 

17,400
 

13,743
 

Other accounts receivable (less allowance for doubtful
accounts of $234 in 2005 and $201 in 2004)

 

3,614
 

3,384
 

Income taxes receivable
 

—
 

5,833
 

Materials and supplies, at average cost
 

1,435
 

1,496
 

Regulatory assets - current
 

4,569
 

7,104
 

Prepayments and other current assets
 

7,047
 

3,466
 

Deferred income taxes - current
 

1,490
 

2,725
 

Total current assets
 

56,455
 

53,024
 

      
Regulatory and Other Assets

     

Regulatory assets
 

50,587
 

54,404
 

Other accounts receivable
 

8,713
 

8,400
 

Other
 

8,745
 

8,567
 

Total regulatory and other assets
 

68,045
 

71,371
 

      
Total Assets

 

$ 844,357
 

$ 810,277
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS



CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES
(Unaudited)

 
  

September 30,
 

December 31,
 

(in thousands)
 

2005
 

2004
 

      
Capitalization

     

Common shares, no par value, no stated value
 

$ 166,206
 

$ 165,270
 

Earnings reinvested in the business
 

99,866
 

89,454
 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
 

(3,259) (3,259)
Total common shareholders’ equity

 

262,813
 

251,465
 

Long-term debt
 

228,685
 

228,902
 

Total capitalization
 

491,498
 

480,367
 

      
Current Liabilities

     

Notes payable to banks
 

55,000
 

45,000
 

Long-term debt - current
 

658
 

880
 

Accounts payable
 

18,471
 

18,206
 

Income taxes payable
 

2,908
 

—
 

Accrued employee expenses
 

4,240
 

4,260
 

Accrued interest
 

5,139
 

1,670
 

Regulatory liabilities - current
 

4,904
 

3,441
 

Other
 

12,607
 

12,879
 

Total current liabilities
 

103,927
 

86,336
 

      
Other Credits

     

Advances for construction
 

83,522
 

81,351
 

Contributions in aid of construction - net
 

77,207
 

73,100
 

Deferred income taxes
 

65,046
 

59,839
 

Unamortized investment tax credits
 

2,541
 

2,609
 

Accrued pension and other postretirement benefits
 

9,994
 

8,793
 

Regulatory liabilities
 

2,180
 

9,731
 

Other
 

8,442
 

8,151
 

Total other credits
 

248,932
 

243,574
 

      
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 10)

 

—
 

—
 

      
Total Capitalization and Liabilities

 

$ 844,357
 

$ 810,277
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE THREE MONTHS

ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 AND 2004
(Unaudited)

 
  

Three Months Ended
 

  
September 30,

 

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
 

2005
 

2004
 

      
Operating Revenues

     

Water
 

$ 60,539
 

$ 62,455
 

Electric
 

6,544
 

6,208
 

Other
 

988
 

298
 

 

 

68,071
 

68,961
 

Operating Expenses
     

Water purchased
 

15,779
 

15,339
 

Power purchased for pumping
 

3,252
 

2,971
 

Power purchased for resale
 

3,075
 

3,107
 

Unrealized (gain) loss on purchased power contracts
 

(4,018) 224
 

Groundwater production assessment
 

2,315
 

2,120
 

Supply cost balancing accounts
 

514
 

1,016
 

Other operating expenses
 

4,850
 

4,818
 

Administrative and general expenses
 

10,074
 

10,591
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

4,705
 

5,589
 

Maintenance
 

3,080
 

2,593
 

Taxes on income
 

10,558
 

5,692
 

Other taxes
 

2,548
 

2,235
 

Total operating expenses
 

56,732
 

56,295
 

      
Operating Income

 

11,339
 

12,666
 

      
     



Other Income (Loss)
Other income (loss), net

 

(148) (160)
Taxes on other income (loss)

 

84
 

76
 

Total other income (loss), net
 

(64) (84)
      
Interest Charges

     

Interest on long-term debt
 

4,092
 

4,047
 

Other interest and amortization of debt expense
 

(5,051) 517
 

Total interest charges, net
 

(959) 4,564
 

      
Net Income

 

$ 12,234
 

$ 8,018
 

      
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding

 

16,782
 

15,318
 

Basic Earnings Per Common Share
 

$ 0.72
 

$ 0.52
 

      
Weighted Average Number of Diluted Shares

 

16,887
 

15,338
 

Fully Diluted Earnings Per Share
 

$ 0.72
 

$ 0.52
 

      
Dividends Declared Per Common Share

 

$ 0.225
 

$ 0.221
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED

SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 AND 2004
(Unaudited)

 
  

Nine Months Ended
 

  
September 30,

 

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
 

2005
 

2004
 

      
Operating Revenues

     

Water
 

$ 155,587
 

$ 154,773
 

Electric
 

20,105
 

19,284
 

Other
 

2,669
 

899
 

 

 

178,361
 

174,956
 

Operating Expenses
     

Water purchased
 

35,742
 

37,022
 

Power purchased for pumping
 

6,923
 

7,103
 

Power purchased for resale
 

9,922
 

10,474
 

Unrealized gain on purchased power contracts
 

(7,492) (257)
Gain on settlement for removal of wells

 

(760) —
 

Gain on sale of water rights
 

—
 

(5,675)
Groundwater production assessment

 

6,079
 

5,280
 

Supply cost balancing accounts
 

1,042
 

4,835
 

Other operating expenses
 

15,137
 

14,538
 

Administrative and general expenses
 

31,698
 

31,166
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

16,036
 

15,840
 

Maintenance
 

8,068
 

7,529
 

Taxes on income
 

18,582
 

11,720
 

Other taxes
 

7,041
 

6,566
 

Total operating expenses
 

148,018
 

146,141
 

      
Operating Income

 

30,343
 

28,815
 

      
Other Income (Loss)

     

Other income (loss), net
 

(390) 509
 

Taxes on other income (loss)
 

225
 

(138)
Total other income (loss), net

 

(165) 371
 

      
Interest Charges

     

Interest on long-term debt
 

12,198
 

12,149
 

Other interest and amortization of debt expense
 

(3,753) 1,163
 

Total interest charges
 

8,445
 

13,312
 

      
Net Income

 

$ 21,733
 

$ 15,874
 

      
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding

 

16,773
 

15,264
 

Basic Earnings Per Common Share
 

$ 1.29
 

$ 1.04
 

      
Weighted Average Number of Diluted Shares

 

16,845
 

15,288
 

   



Fully Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 1.29 $ 1.04
      
Dividends Declared Per Common Share

 

$ 0.675
 

$ 0.663
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 AND 2004

(Unaudited)
 

  
Nine Months Ended

 

  
September 30,

 

(in thousands)
 

2005
 

2004
 

      
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

     

Net income
 

$ 21,733
 

$ 15,874
 

Adjustments for non-cash items:
     

Depreciation and amortization
 

16,036
 

15,840
 

Provision for doubtful accounts
 

311
 

495
 

Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits
 

9,453
 

608
 

Unrealized gain on purchased power contracts
 

(7,492) (257)
Impairment loss on assets removed from rate-base

 

—
 

482
 

Non-cash compensation expense on stock units issued
 

110
 

794
 

Other - net
 

30
 

1,175
 

Changes in assets and liabilities:
     

Accounts receivable - customers
 

(4,517) (3,243)
Unbilled revenue

 

(3,657) (3,761)
Other accounts receivable

 

(576) 8,307
 

Materials and supplies
 

61
 

(139)
Prepayments and other current assets

 

1,884
 

2,009
 

Regulatory assets - supply cost balancing accounts
 

1,042
 

4,835
 

Other assets
 

(2,143) (789)
Accounts payable

 

265
 

191
 

Income taxes receivable/payable
 

8,741
 

5,693
 

Other liabilities
 

3,906
 

(63)
Net cash provided

 

45,187
 

48,051
 

      
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

     

Construction expenditures
 

(51,958) (57,531)
Net cash used

 

(51,958) (57,531)
      
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:

     

Proceeds from issuance of common shares, net of issuance costs
 

830
 

35,256
 

Receipt of advances for and contributions in aid of construction
 

10,350
 

8,308
 

Refunds on advances for construction
 

(3,147) (2,947)
Repayments of long-term debt

 

(560) (541)
Net change in notes payable to banks

 

10,000
 

(28,000)
Cash received on financing portion of purchased power contracts

 

2,007
 

1,339
 

Dividends paid
 

(11,321) (10,108)
Net cash provided

 

8,159
 

3,307
 

      
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

 

1,388
 

(6,173)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

 

4,303
 

12,775
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
 

$ 5,691
 

$ 6,602
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY

BALANCE SHEETS
ASSETS

(Unaudited)
 
  

September 30,
 

December 31,
 

(in thousands)
 

2005
 

2004
 

      
Utility Plant, at cost

     

Water
 

$ 761,510
 

$ 734,662
 

Electric
 

58,670
 

58,667
 

    



820,180 793,329
Less - Accumulated depreciation

 

(244,746) (229,664)
 

 

575,434
 

563,665
 

Construction work in progress
 

85,090
 

65,136
 

Net utility plant
 

660,524
 

628,801
 

      
Other Property and Investments

 

7,388
 

7,419
 

      
Current Assets

     

Cash and cash equivalents
 

4,129
 

2,702
 

Accounts receivable-customers (less allowance for doubtful accounts of $703 in 2005 and $758 in 2004)
 

14,968
 

10,818
 

Unbilled revenue
 

17,066
 

13,466
 

Inter-company receivable
 

335
 

1,126
 

Other accounts receivable (less allowance for doubtful accounts of $234 in 2005 and $201 in 2004)
 

1,504
 

2,465
 

Income taxes receivable from Parent
 

—
 

4,187
 

Materials and supplies, at average cost
 

1,410
 

1,473
 

Regulatory assets - current
 

4,496
 

7,104
 

Prepayments and other current assets
 

6,943
 

3,248
 

Deferred income taxes - current
 

1,511
 

2,795
 

Total current assets
 

52,362
 

49,384
 

      
Regulatory and Other Assets

     

Regulatory assets
 

50,330
 

54,219
 

Other accounts receivable
 

8,713
 

8,400
 

Other
 

7,880
 

8,053
 

Total regulatory and other assets
 

66,923
 

70,672
 

      
Total Assets

 

$ 787,197
 

$ 756,276
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY

BALANCE SHEETS
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES

(Unaudited)
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

(in thousands)
 

2005
 

2004
 

      
Capitalization

     

Common shares, no par value
 

$ 159,396
 

$ 159,290
 

Earnings reinvested in the business
 

98,166
 

87,817
 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss
 

(3,259) (3,259)
Total common shareholder’s equity

 

254,303
 

243,848
 

Long-term debt
 

221,649
 

221,697
 

Total capitalization
 

475,952
 

465,545
 

      
Current Liabilities

     

Long-term debt - current
 

229
 

282
 

Accounts payable
 

17,661
 

17,196
 

Inter-company payable
 

33,616
 

23,925
 

Income taxes payable to Parent
 

3,680
 

—
 

Accrued employee expenses
 

3,920
 

3,951
 

Accrued interest
 

5,014
 

1,636
 

Regulatory liabilities - current
 

4,904
 

3,441
 

Other
 

12,160
 

12,601
 

Total current liabilities
 

81,184
 

63,032
 

      
Other Credits

     

Advances for construction
 

71,378
 

70,206
 

Contributions in aid of construction-net
 

76,351
 

72,574
 

Deferred income taxes
 

61,136
 

56,684
 

Unamortized investment tax credits
 

2,541
 

2,609
 

Accrued pension and other postretirement benefits
 

9,994
 

8,793
 

Regulatory liabilities
 

1,419
 

9,731
 

Other
 

7,242
 

7,102
 

Total other credits
 

230,061
 

227,699
 

      
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 10)

 

—
 

—
 

      
Total Capitalization and Liabilities

 

$ 787,197
 

$ 756,276
 



 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE THREE MONTHS

ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 AND 2004
(Unaudited)

 
  

Three Months Ended
 

  
September 30,

 

(in thousands)
 

2005
 

2004
 

      
Operating Revenues

     

Water
 

$ 58,568
 

$ 60,506
 

Electric
 

6,544
 

6,208
 

 

 

65,112
 

66,714
 

Operating Expenses
     

Water purchased
 

15,446
 

15,150
 

Power purchased for pumping
 

3,080
 

2,806
 

Power purchased for resale
 

3,074
 

3,107
 

Unrealized (gain) loss on purchased power contracts
 

(4,018) 224
 

Groundwater production assessment
 

2,316
 

2,120
 

Supply cost balancing accounts
 

514
 

1,016
 

Other operating expenses
 

4,346
 

4,467
 

Administrative and general expenses
 

8,749
 

8,712
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

4,431
 

5,346
 

Maintenance
 

2,998
 

2,472
 

Taxes on income
 

10,561
 

6,145
 

Other taxes
 

2,457
 

2,138
 

Total operating expenses
 

53,954
 

53,703
 

      
Operating Income

 

11,158
 

13,011
 

      
Other Income (Loss)

     

Other income (loss), net
 

(157) (161)
Taxes on other income (loss)

 

87
 

84
 

Total other income (loss), net
 

(70) (77)
      
Interest Charges

     

Interest on long-term debt
 

3,991
 

3,946
 

Other interest and amortization of debt expense
 

(5,276) 371
 

Total interest charges
 

(1,285) 4,317
 

      
Net Income

 

$ 12,373
 

$ 8,617
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY

STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED

SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 AND 2004
(Unaudited)

 
  

Nine Months Ended
 

  
September 30,

 

(in thousands)
 

2005
 

2004
 

      
Operating Revenues

     

Water
 

$ 150,519
 

$ 149,864
 

Electric
 

20,105
 

19,284
 

 

 

170,624
 

169,148
 

Operating Expenses
     

Water purchased
 

35,116
 

36,479
 

Power purchased for pumping
 

6,537
 

6,741
 

Power purchased for resale
 

9,921
 

10,474
 

Unrealized gain on purchased power contracts
 

(7,492) (257)
Gain on sale of water rights

 

—
 

(5,675)
Groundwater production assessment

 

6,115
 

5,280
 

   



Supply cost balancing accounts 1,042 4,835
Other operating expenses

 

13,656
 

13,474
 

Administrative and general expenses
 

27,221
 

25,866
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

15,203
 

15,118
 

Maintenance
 

7,611
 

7,100
 

Taxes on income
 

18,947
 

13,505
 

Other taxes
 

6,729
 

6,278
 

Total operating expenses
 

140,606
 

139,218
 

      
Operating Income

 

30,018
 

29,930
 

      
Other Income (Loss)

     

Other income (loss), net
 

(421) 503
 

Taxes on other income (loss)
 

237
 

(137)
Total other income (loss), net

 

(184) 366
 

      
Interest Charges

     

Interest on long-term debt
 

11,894
 

11,820
 

Other interest and amortization of debt expense
 

(4,409) 821
 

Total interest charges
 

7,485
 

12,641
 

      
Net Income

 

$ 22,349
 

$ 17,655
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY

CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 AND 2004

(Unaudited)
 

  
Nine Months Ended

 

  
September 30,

 

(in thousands)
 

2005
 

2004
 

      
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

     

Net income
 

$ 22,349
 

$ 17,655
 

Adjustments for non-cash items:
     

Depreciation and amortization
 

15,203
 

15,118
 

Provision for doubtful accounts
 

280
 

313
 

Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits
 

8,684
 

303
 

Unrealized gain on purchased power contracts
 

(7,492) (257)
Impairment loss on assets removed from rate-base

 

—
 

482
 

Non-cash compensation expense on stock units issued
 

110
 

794
 

Other - net
 

249
 

1,072
 

Changes in assets and liabilities:
     

Accounts receivable - customers
 

(4,397) (3,066)
Unbilled revenue

 

(3,600) (3,695)
Other accounts receivable

 

615
 

8,341
 

Materials and supplies
 

63
 

(138)
Prepayments and other current assets

 

1,770
 

2,004
 

Regulatory assets - supply cost balancing accounts
 

1,042
 

4,835
 

Other assets
 

(1,959) (741)
Accounts payable

 

465
 

534
 

Inter-company receivable/payable
 

3,182
 

(358)
Income taxes receivable/payable from/to Parent

 

7,867
 

7,800
 

Other liabilities
 

2,723
 

(390)
Net cash provided

 

47,154
 

50,606
 

      
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

     

Construction expenditures
 

(48,756) (54,793)
Net cash used

 

(48,756) (54,793)
      
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:

     

Proceeds from issuance of common shares
 

—
 

28,000
 

Receipt of advances for and contributions in aid of construction
 

8,745
 

7,922
 

Refunds on advances for construction
 

(2,801) (2,576)
Repayments of long-term debt

 

(222) (226)
Net change in intercompany borrowings

 

7,300
 

(24,500)
Cash received on financing portion of purchased power contracts

 

2,007
 

1,339
 

Dividends paid
 

(12,000) (11,550)
Net cash provided (used)

 

3,029
 

(1,591)
      

  



Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,427 (5,778)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

 

2,702
 

8,306
 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
 

$ 4,129
 

$ 2,528
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY

AND
GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

 
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
General: American States Water Company (“AWR”) is the parent company of Golden State Water Company (“GSWC”), American States Utility

Services, Inc. (“ASUS”) (and its subsidiary, Fort Bliss Water Services Company (“FBWS”)), and Chaparral City Water Company (“CCWC”). Unless
otherwise stated in this report, the term Registrant applies to both AWR and GSWC, collectively. GSWC changed its name from Southern California Water
Company to Golden State Water Company by amendment to its Restated Articles of Incorporation on September 30, 2005.

 
More than 90% of AWR’s assets consist of the common stock of GSWC. GSWC is a public utility engaged principally in the purchase, production,

distribution and sale of water in three regions in California. GSWC also distributes electricity in the Big Bear Lake area in California. The California Public
Utilities Commission (“CPUC”) regulates GSWC’s water and electric businesses, including properties, rates, services, facilities and other matters. CCWC is a
public utility regulated by the Arizona Corporation Commission (“ACC”). ASUS performs water related services and operations on a contract basis. On
October 1, 2004, FBWS commenced operation of the water and wastewater systems at Fort Bliss located near El Paso, Texas pursuant to the terms of a 50-
year contract with the U.S. Government.  FBWS holds a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity from the Texas Commission on Environmental
Quality (“TCEQ”). There is no direct regulatory oversight by either the CPUC or the ACC of the operation or rates of ASUS’s contracted services or AWR.

 
Basis of Presentation:The consolidated financial statements of AWR include the accounts of AWR and its wholly-owned subsidiaries GSWC, ASUS

(and its wholly owned subsidiary, FBWS), and CCWC, and are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in the AWR consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements
included herein have been prepared by Registrant, without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America for annual financial statements have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. The preparation of the
consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring items and estimates
necessary for a fair statement of the results for the interim periods, have been made. It is suggested that these consolidated financial statements be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 filed with the
SEC. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. None of these reclassifications had an impact on Registrant’s
Shareholders’ Equity or Net Income.
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GSWC’s Related-Party Transactions: GSWC and other subsidiaries provide and receive various services to and from their parent, AWR, and among

themselves. AWR provides funds to GSWC in support of its operations.  Amounts owed to AWR for borrowings represent the majority of GSWC’s
intercompany payables on GSWC’s balance sheets as of September 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004.  Interest is charged to GSWC in an amount sufficient to
cover AWR’s interest cost under AWR’s syndicated revolving credit facility.  GSWC also allocates certain corporate office administrative and general costs to
its affiliates using CPUC approved and/or allocation factors believed to be reasonable.

 
Note 2 – Regulatory Matters
 
In accordance with accounting principles for rate-regulated enterprises, Registrant records regulatory assets, which represent probable future revenue

associated with certain costs that will be recovered from customers through the rate-making process, and regulatory liabilities, which represent probable
future reductions in revenue associated with amounts that are to be credited to customers through the rate-making process.  At September 30, 2005, Registrant
had $27.9 million of regulatory assets not accruing carrying costs. Of this amount, $21.3 million relates to the regulatory asset for costs deferred on the
Aerojet matter disclosed below as a “non-yielding” regulatory asset. In addition, other regulatory assets not accruing carrying costs include a deferred income
tax balance of $4.7 million representing accelerated tax benefits previously flowed-through to ratepayers, which will be included in rates concurrently with
recognition of the associated tax expense. Finally, there are other expenses that Registrant recovers in rates over a short period that do not provide for
recovery of carrying costs. At September 30, 2005, $1.9 million was recorded as other regulatory assets for such expenses to be recovered.

 
Regulatory assets, less regulatory liabilities, included in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:
 

  
September 30,

 
December 31,

 

(In thousands)
 

2005
 

2004
 

GSWC
     

Supply cost balancing accounts
 

$ 17,277
 

$ 23,537
 

Costs deferred for future recovery on Aerojet case
 

21,254
 

15,347
 

Flow-through taxes, net
 

4,717
 

7,733
 

Electric transmission line abandonment costs
 

3,459
 

3,546
 

Asset retirement obligations
 

3,326
 

3,038
 

   



Low income balancing accounts 2,601 2,134
General rate case memorandum accounts

 

923
 

2,168
 

Refund of water right lease revenues
 

(6,323) (5,889)
Revenues subject to refund

 

—
 

(3,487)
Supply cost memorandum accounts net over-collections

 

—
 

(1,818)
Other regulatory assets

 

1,269
 

1,842
 

Total GSWC
 

$ 48,503
 

$ 48,151
 

CCWC
     

Asset retirement obligations
 

$ 43
 

$ 41
 

Other regulatory assets/liabilities, net
 

(474) 144
 

Total AWR
 

$ 48,072
 

$ 48,336
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Supply Cost Balancing Accounts:
 

Electric Supply Cost Balancing Account – Electric power costs incurred by GSWC’s Bear Valley Electric division continue to be charged to its
electric supply cost balancing account. The under-collection in the electric supply cost balancing account is $21.3 million at September 30, 2005. The CPUC
has authorized GSWC to collect a surcharge from its customers of 2.2¢ per kilowatt hour through August 2011, to enable GSWC to recover an under-
collection of approximately $23.1 million at the end of 2001 which had been incurred during the energy crisis in late 2000 and 2001. GSWC sold 31,123,833
and 32,084,995 kilowatt hours of electricity to its Bear Valley Electric division customers for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, and 101,438,647 and 102,040,970 kilowatt hours for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively. As a result, the supply
cost balancing account was reduced by $664,000 and $685,000 for the three month period ended September 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004, respectively,
and $2.1 million and $2.0 million for the nine month period ended September 30, 2005 and September 30, 2004, respectively. Approximately, $9.9 million of
the under-collection incurred during the energy crisis in late 2000 and 2001 has been recovered through this surcharge. GSWC anticipates the surcharge based
on electricity sales to be sufficient for it to recover the amount of the under-collected balance incurred during the energy crisis by August 2011.

 
GSWC records both purchased energy and power system delivery costs in the supply cost balancing account.  By terms of the settlement with the

CPUC, the purchased energy costs that are recorded in the supply cost balancing account are subject to a price cap.  GSWC is allowed to include only up to a
weighted annual energy purchase cost of $77 per MWh each year through August 2011 in its electric supply cost balancing account for purchased energy
costs. To the extent that the actual weighted average annual cost for power purchased exceeds the $77 per MWh amount, GSWC will not be able to include
these amounts in its balancing account and such amounts will be expensed. During the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, GSWC expensed
approximately $6,400 and $290,400, respectively, for costs over $77 per MWh.  The incoming power system delivery costs are not subject to any price caps.

 
The ability of GSWC to deliver purchased power to customers in its Bear Valley Electric service area is limited by the ability of the transmission

facilities owned by Southern California Edison Company (“Edison”) to transmit this power. GSWC filed a lawsuit against Edison in 2000 for breach of
contract as a result of delays in upgrading these transmission facilities as well as for other reasons. In March 2004, GSWC and Edison agreed to settle this
suit. Under the terms of the settlement agreement, GSWC agreed to pay a $5 million project abandonment fee to Edison. Edison filed an application to the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") for approval to treat the entire $5 million settlement payment as an abandoned project cost to be included
in Edison’s wholesale tariff charged to GSWC.

 
GSWC made an initial lump sum payment of $1.4 million to Edison during the first quarter of 2004 and agreed to pay Edison the remaining $3.6

million over a 15 year term through 180 equal monthly payments of $38,137 to be included in Edison’s monthly tariff. The $1.4 million lump sum payment
was recorded as a regulatory asset pending FERC approval of Edison’s application.  FERC approved Edison’s application in August 2004 and as a result,
GSWC transferred the $1.4 million lump sum payment to the electric supply cost balancing account. In addition, monthly payments of $38,137 per month,
totaling $114,411 and $76,274 made to Edison during the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and $343,233 and $76,274 made
during the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, have also been included in the electric supply cost balancing account. Management
believes that it is probable that the CPUC will permit GSWC to  recover the rates  authorized by and on file with FERC in connection with the Edison
settlement; however, management cannot give assurance that the CPUC will ultimately allow recovery of all or any of the these costs that are included in the
electric supply cost balancing account.
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Water Memorandum Supply Cost Accounts - In a CPUC decision issued on June 19, 2003 related to memorandum supply cost accounts, all water

utilities regulated by the CPUC are required to seek review of under- and over- collections by filing an advice letter annually.  GSWC filed advice letters in
2004 and 2005 with respect to its cumulative net over-collection for Regions I and II for the period from November 29, 2001 to December 31, 2004, which
has been recorded as a regulatory liability.  In June 2005, the CPUC approved these advice letters, as filed, for the 2001, 2002 and 2003 years and as a result a
$1.4 million over-collection was transferred to the supply cost balancing accounts. The advice letters for the 2004 year totaling $4.2 million net over-
collection were approved by the CPUC in August of 2005.  The $4.2 million net over-collection includes approximately $3.5 million of the net proceeds
received from potentially responsible parties in the Charnock Groundwater Basin, which was recorded as a regulatory liability (see “Revenues Subject to
Refund” discussed below). The amount was transferred to the supply cost balancing accounts in August 2005.  There was no impact to earnings as these over-
collections had been recorded as regulatory liabilities in prior years.

 
GSWC also filed advice letters with the CPUC for review of the activity in the Region III memorandum supply cost account for the period from

November 29, 2001 to December 31, 2004 totaling a cumulative $4.2 million under-collection. A regulatory asset with respect to this under-collection was
not recorded pending receipt of a CPUC decision authorizing the recovery of the under-collection.  In June 2005, the CPUC approved the transfer of an
approximate $1.3 million under-collection in Region III’s 2004 memorandum supply cost account into the water supply cost balancing account, income of
which was recorded in the second quarter of 2005.  The advice letters for the 2001-2003 years were approved in October 2005.  As a result, GSWC will be
allowed to recover an under-collection of $2.9 million recorded in the supply cost memorandum account between November 2001 and December 2003. This
will result in an increase to pre-tax income of $2.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2005.

 
Costs Deferred for Future Recover:



 
GSWC sued Aerojet-General Corporation (“Aerojet”) for contaminating the Sacramento County Groundwater Basin, which affected certain GSWC

wells. On a related matter, GSWC also filed a lawsuit against the State of California (the “State”). The CPUC authorized memorandum accounts to allow for
recovery, from customers, of costs incurred by GSWC in prosecuting the cases against Aerojet and the State, less any recovery from the defendants or others.
On October 30, 2003, GSWC, in its Region I abbreviated general rate case, filed for recovery of the cumulative balance of approximately $22 million in its
memorandum account. This balance consisted primarily of deferred litigation costs and carrying costs.  The filing with the CPUC requested recovery of the
balance over a 20-year amortization period.

 
On July 21, 2005, the CPUC authorized GSWC to collect approximately $21.3 million of the Aerojet litigation memorandum account, through a rate

surcharge, which will continue for no longer than 20 years.  At the time of the decision, approximately $15.1 million had been recorded as a non-yielding
regulatory asset representing primarily the legal costs incurred to date in connection with prosecuting the cases. The difference between the amount filed with
the CPUC for recovery in rates and those recorded primarily relate to previously incurred carrying costs for certain capital investments required to restore the
water supply.  As a result of this decision, GSWC reflected an increase of approximately $6.2 million in its regulatory assets to include previously expensed
carrying and other costs and recorded a corresponding pre-tax gain in its results of operations during the third quarter of 2005.  In addition, GSWC was
ordered to restore to the appropriate plant accounts those amounts that have been reimbursed by Aerojet pursuant to the settlement. This resulted in GSWC
recording an approximate $1.0 million decrease to depreciation expense during the third quarter of 2005.
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As a result of the favorable CPUC decision on the Aerojet matter, the following is a summary of the impact to the Statement of Income for the three

months ended September 30, 2005:
 

  
Amount

 

  
Increase / (Decrease)

 

Operating Expenses
   

Power purchased for resale
 

$  (31,230)
Other operating expenses

 

(459,415)
Administrative and general expenses

 

(16,963)
Depreciation and amortization

 

(992,232)
Total pre-tax impact to operating expenses

 

(1,499,840)
    
Interest Charges

   

Other interest and amortization of debt expense
 

(5,691,634)
    

Total pre-tax impact to results of operations
 

$ 7,191,474
 

Impact to taxes on income
 

2,930,238
 

Total impact to net income
 

$ 4,261,236
 

 
GSWC will keep the Aerojet memorandum account open until it is fully amortized. However, no costs will be added to the memorandum account,

other than cumulative interest charges approved by the decision. It is management’s intention to offset any settlement proceeds from Aerojet that may occur
from these actions against the balance in the memorandum account at the time of settlement. See Note 10 for further discussion of the Aerojet matter.

 
Refund of Water Right Lease Revenues
 

In 1994, GSWC entered into a contract to lease to the City of Folsom, 5,000 acre-feet per year of water rights from the American River. GSWC
included all associated revenues in a non-operating income account. In a decision issued on March 16, 2004, the CPUC ordered GSWC to refund 70 percent
of the total amount of lease revenues received since 1994, plus interest, to customers. Pursuant to the order, GSWC recorded a $6.2 million regulatory liability
with a corresponding charge against non-operating income, net of taxes, during the fourth quarter of 2003. A final amount of the refund was approved by the
CPUC in June 2004 and GSWC adjusted its estimate to the approved refund amount of $5.2 million.  Refunds of approximately $194,000 and $455,000 were
provided to customers during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, respectively.  The refunds will be made over a 9-year period.

 
Management disagreed with the CPUC’s decision and filed an application for rehearing of that decision.  The CPUC denied GSWC’s application for

rehearing in 2004.  GSWC next filed a petition for review with the California Supreme Court to hear the matter, which was denied in February of 2005. 
Subsequently, GSWC filed a petition for review with the Supreme Court of the United States, asking the Court to direct the California Supreme Court to
accept GSWC’s petition for review and to order the CPUC to reverse the underlying decision.  The US Supreme court denied the petition for review in
October of 2005.  With the denial of the petition for review, GSWC has exhausted its appellate process of the original CPUC decision.  GSWC is now
procedurally situated to institute a new action against the CPUC in federal district court concerning the taking of water rights, which it plans to do in the near
future.
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Pursuant to the order, the apportionment of any lease revenues that GSWC may collect commencing January 2004 will be determined by a later

decision. Hearings on this matter have concluded and a decision is expected in either late 2005 or early 2006.  Beginning in the first quarter of 2004, all
amounts billed to the City of Folsom are included in a regulatory liability account and no amounts have been recognized as revenue for 2004 and 2005 until
all uncertainties about this matter are resolved with the CPUC. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, GSWC recorded an additional
$317,000 and $889,000 in the regulatory liability account, respectively.

 
Revenues Subject to Refund
 

In March 2002, GSWC and the City of Santa Monica (“City”) reached a settlement agreement in which GSWC sold its water rights in the Charnock
Groundwater Basin (“Basin”) to the City and assigned to the City its rights against all potentially responsible parties (“PRPs”) who stored, transported and



dispensed gasoline containing methyl tertiary butyl ether (“MTBE”) in underground storage tanks, pipelines or other related infrastructure in the Basin. The
City also indemnified GSWC from related claims.

 
On July 8, 2004, the CPUC approved the settlement agreement and directed GSWC, among other things, to refund to ratepayers the net proceeds of

$3.5 million received from PRPs, which was recorded as a regulatory liability in December 2003 on the basis of a proposed decision by the CPUC.  As a
result of the approval of the 2004 advice letters for Region’s II memorandum supply cost accounts in August of 2005, which included the $3.5 million
received from the PRPs and to be refunded to customers, the regulatory liability was transferred to the supply cost balancing accounts.  There was no impact
to earnings as this refund had been recorded in prior years.

 
CCWC Other Regulatory Assets/Liabilities
 

Fountain Hills Sanitary District (“FHSD”) is a political subdivision of the State of Arizona that provides sanitary sewer service to customers residing
within CCWC’s water service area.  In connection with its sanitary system, FHSD constructed a recharge system whereby it recharges treated effluent through
multiple aquifer storage and recovery wells.  In order for FHSD to secure an Aquifer Protection Permit for its recharge system, FHSD requested CCWC to
permanently cease using one of its wells.  As a possible replacement for this well, FHSD constructed a new well adjacent to the community center
(“Community Center Well”).  However, this well was not able to produce an equivalent amount of water to CCWC’s well that was taken out of production. 
Accordingly, in February 2005, CCWC entered into an agreement with FHSD whereby CCWC agreed to permanently remove from service this well and in
return CCWC received a settlement fee of $1,520,000 from FHSD. Pursuant to the agreement, CCWC will: (i) permanently remove from service and cap this
well, and cap another well which had never been used as a potable source of supply; (ii) relinquish any legal claim or interest that CCWC may otherwise
possess in the Community Center Well; and (iii) grant an option to FHSD to acquire one of the wells at a future date at fair market value.  The removal of
these two wells from service did not have a significant impact on CCWC’s water supply.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, CCWC has recognized a net gain of $760,000 related to this settlement agreement and has

established a regulatory liability for the remaining $760,000 pending Arizona Corporation Commission’s (“ACC”) review of this matter.
 
Except as discussed above, there were no other significant changes in regulatory assets and liabilities during the three and nine months ended

September 30, 2005.
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Note 3 - Earnings Per Share / Capital Stock
 
In March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued EITF No. 03-06, “Participating Securities and the Two-Class Method under FASB

Statement No. 128”.  EITF No. 03-06 was effective in the second quarter of 2004 and provided new accounting guidance for the effect of participating
securities on earnings per share (“EPS”) calculations and the use of the “two-class” method.  The new guidance requires the use of the “two-class” method of
computing EPS for companies with participating securities. The “two-class” method is an earnings allocations formula that determines EPS for each class of
common stock and participating security.  Registrant has participating securities related to stock options that earn dividend equivalents on an equal basis with
common shares.  Registrant determined that the effect on 2004, 2003 and 2002 was immaterial.

 
Basic EPS is computed, utilizing the “two-class” method, by dividing net income available for common shareholders by the weighted-average

number of common shares outstanding. Net income available for common shareholders, which exclude earnings available and allocated to participating
securities, was $12.1 million and $8.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and was $21.6 million and $15.9
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

 
Diluted EPS is based upon the weighted average number of Common Shares including both outstanding shares and shares potentially issuable in

connection with stock options and stock units granted under Registrant’s 2000 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2003 Non-Employee Directors Stock Plan, and
net income. At September 30, 2005 and 2004 there were 686,600 and 498,320 options outstanding, respectively, under these Plans.  At September 30, 2005
and 2004, there were also approximately 30,800 and 32,000 stock units outstanding, respectively, pursuant to the 2003 Non-Employee Directors Stock Plan.
 Outstanding stock options and stock unit awards, including those issued for dividend equivalent rights, issued by the Registrant represent the only dilutive
effect reflected in diluted weighted average shares outstanding.

 
During the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, Registrant issued 9,468 and 20,725 common shares, which totaled approximately

$274,000 and $494,000, under the Registrant’s Common Share Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan and 401(k) Plan, respectively.  During the nine
months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, Registrant issued 30,153 and 70,391 common shares, which totaled approximately $830,000 and $1,699,000,
under the Registrant’s Common Share Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan and 401(k) Plan, respectively.  In addition during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2005, Registrant repurchased in the open market 26,009 and 47,515 common shares, respectively, under the Registrant’s Common Share
Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan, 401(k) Plan and anniversary stock grant program, which were used to satisfy the stock delivery requirements of
these plans.

 
On September 22, 2004, AWR also issued 1,400,000 shares in a registered public offering and received proceeds of $33.6 million, net of underwriter

fees and other issuance costs of $1.8 million. The proceeds recorded in common shares were reduced by direct issuance costs. On October 12, 2004, the
underwriters partially exercised an over-allotment option for an additional 50,000 shares. The Company received proceeds of $1,212,500, which was net of
underwriter fees and other issuance costs of $50,500, from the issuance of these shares.

 
In September 2004, the Board approved the issuance of 10 additional GSWC common shares to AWR for $28.0 million. GSWC used the proceeds to

pay down debt owed to AWR. In November 2004, the Board approved the issuance of 2 additional GSWC common shares to AWR for $7.1 million.
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During the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, AWR paid quarterly dividends to the shareholders, totaling approximately $3.8

million or $0.225 per share and $3.4 million or $0.221 per share, respectively.  During the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, AWR paid
quarterly dividends to the shareholders, totaling approximately $11.3 million or $0.675 per share and $10.1 million or $0.663 per share, respectively.



 
Note 4 – Credit Facility
 
In June 2005, AWR amended and restated its credit agreement which increased its borrowing limit under this facility to $85 million and extended the

maturity date to June 2010.  Up to $20 million of this facility may be used for letters of credit. As of September 30, 2005, an aggregate of $55 million in cash
borrowings are included in current liabilities and approximately $11.2 million of letters of credit were outstanding under this facility.

 
Note 5 – Derivative Instruments
 
During 2002, GSWC entered into block-forward power purchase contracts that qualified as derivative instruments under SFAS No. 133,

“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, as amended by SFAS Nos. 138 and 139. Contracts with Pinnacle West Capital Corporation
(“PWCC”) became effective in November 2002 and do not qualify for designation as normal purchases and normal sales.  As a result, GSWC has recognized
these contracts at fair market value on its balance sheets resulting in a cumulative unrealized gain of $5.5 million as of September 30, 2005. This also resulted
in a pre-tax unrealized gain of $4,018,000 and a pre-tax unrealized loss of $224,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively,
and a pre-tax unrealized gain of $7,492,000 and $257,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, due to increases in energy
prices.  On a monthly basis, the related asset or liability is adjusted to reflect the fair market value at the end of the month. As this contract moves forward in
time and is settled, the realized gains or losses are recorded in power purchased for resale, and the unrealized gains or losses are reversed. The market prices
used to determine the fair value for this derivative instrument were estimated based on independent sources such as broker quotes and publications.
Settlement of this contract occurs on a cash or net basis through 2006 and by physical delivery through 2008. Registrant has no other derivative financial
instruments.
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Note 6 – Income Taxes
 
As a regulated utility, GSWC treats certain temporary differences as flow-through adjustments in computing its income tax provision consistent with

the income tax approach approved by the CPUC for ratemaking purposes.  Flow-through adjustments increase or decrease tax expense in one period, with an
offsetting increase or decrease occurring in another period.  Giving effect to these temporary differences as flow-through adjustments typically results in a
greater variance between the effective tax rate (“ETR”) and the statutory federal income tax rate in any given period than would otherwise exist if GSWC
were not required to account for its income taxes as a regulated enterprise.  During the second quarter of 2005, the recognition of the federal benefit of state
taxes was adjusted to conform to the flow-through method reflected in the tax calculation for ratemaking purposes, which partially defers the recognition of
the benefit to the subsequent tax year.  This resulted in additional income taxes of $801,000 and $1,190,000 for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2005, respectively.

 
In October 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”) was signed into law and provides a new federal income tax deduction from

qualified U.S. production activities, which is being phased in from 2005 through 2010.  Under the Act, qualified production activities include Registrant’s
production of electricity and potable water.  In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 109-1 and proposed that the deduction should be
accounted for as a “special deduction” in accordance with SFAS No. 109.  As such, the special deduction had no effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities
existing at the enactment date. Rather, the impact of the deduction is to be reported in the period in which the deduction is claimed on Registrant’s tax return. 
During the first quarter of fiscal 2005, Registrant completed its initial evaluation of the provisions of the Act.  The amount of the benefit for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2005 was not material.

 
Note 7 – Stock Incentive Plans
 
Registrant applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, in accounting for its stock

options under its 2000 Stock Incentive Plan. Accordingly, no compensation cost for the Plan has been recognized for options granted at fair value at the date
of grant. Registrant has also adopted the disclosure only requirements of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”.

 
At the May 2004 Annual Meeting, the shareholders adopted the 2003 Non-Employee Directors Stock Plan (“New Directors Plan”). The New

Directors Plan provides the non-employee directors with supplemental stock-based compensation. Pursuant to the New Directors Plan, directors are entitled to
receive stock options and stock unit awards. As of September 30, 2005, an aggregate of 27,000 stock options have been granted to the directors under the
New Director’s Plan. Registrant also applies APB No. 25 in accounting for the director’s stock options.  The director’s stock options were granted at fair
value at the date of grant; therefore no compensation cost has been recognized for these options. The stock units are a non-voting unit of measurement which
is deemed for bookkeeping and payment purposes to represent outstanding AWR common shares.  Upon adoption of the New Directors Plan in May 2004,
Registrant began recording compensation expense on the stock unit awards.  As of September 30, 2005, the directors have been credited with approximately
30,800 stock units. Stock units will be paid only in AWR common shares on the date that the participant terminates service as a director.
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If Registrant had elected to adopt the optional recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 for its stock options and stock units under the 2000 Stock

Incentive Plan and the New Directors Plan, net income and earnings per share would have been changed to the pro forma amounts indicated below:
 
  

For The Three Months
 

For The Nine Months
 

  
Ended September 30,

 
Ended September 30,

 

(dollars in thousands, except EPS)
 

2005
 

2004
 

2005
 

2004
 

Net income, as reported
 

$ 12,234
 

$ 8,018
 

$ 21,733
 

$ 15,874
 

Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income,
net of tax

 

7
 

6
 

64
 

474
 

Less: Stock-based compensation expense determined under the fair-value
accounting method, net of tax

 

(10) (6) (682) (928)
Pro forma net income

 

$ 12,231
 

$ 8,018
 

$ 21,115
 

$ 15,420
 

          
Basic earnings per share:

         
     



As reported $ 0.72 $ 0.52 $ 1.29 $ 1.04
Pro forma

 

$ 0.72
 

$ 0.52
 

$ 1.25
 

$ 1.01
 

          
Diluted earnings per share:

         

As reported
 

$ 0.72
 

$ 0.52
 

$ 1.29
 

$ 1.04
 

Pro forma
 

$ 0.72
 

$ 0.52
 

$ 1.25
 

$ 1.01
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Note 8 – Employee Benefit Plans
 
The components of net periodic benefit costs, before allocation to the overhead pool, for Registrant’s pension plan, other postretirement (medical)

plan, and Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (“SERP”) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:
 

  
For The Three Months Ended September 30, 2005 and 2004

 

  
Pension Benefits

 

Other
Postretirement

Benefits
 

SERP
 

(dollars in thousands)
 

2005
 

2004
 

2005
 

2004
 

2005
 

2004
 

Components of Net Periodic Benefits Cost:
             

Service Cost
 

$ 933
 

$ 724
 

$ 109
 

$ 97
 

$ 32
 

$ 32
 

Interest Cost
 

1,088
 

936
 

151
 

146
 

28
 

31
 

Expected Return on Plan Assets
 

(922) (834) (74) (63) —
 

—
 

Amortization of Transition
 

—
 

—
 

105
 

105
 

—
 

—
 

Amortization of Prior Service Cost
 

41
 

41
 

(50) (50) 38
 

37
 

Amortization of Actuarial (Gain) Loss
 

313
 

129
 

41
 

32
 

(10) —
 

Net Periodic Pension Cost
 

$ 1,453
 

$ 996
 

$ 282
 

$ 267
 

$ 88
 

$ 100
 

 
  

For The Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005 and 2004
 

  
Pension Benefits

 

Other
Postretirement

Benefits
 

SERP
 

(dollars in thousands)
 

2005
 

2004
 

2005
 

2004
 

2005
 

2004
 

Components of Net Periodic Benefits Cost:
             

Service Cost
 

$ 2,799
 

$ 2,172
 

$ 327
 

$ 291
 

$ 96
 

$ 96
 

Interest Cost
 

3,264
 

2,808
 

453
 

438
 

84
 

93
 

Expected Return on Plan Assets
 

(2,766) (2,502) (222) (189) —
 

—
 

Amortization of Transition
 

—
 

—
 

315
 

315
 

—
 

—
 

Amortization of Prior Service Cost
 

123
 

123
 

(150) (150) 114
 

111
 

Amortization of Actuarial (Gain) Loss
 

939
 

387
 

123
 

96
 

(30) —
 

Net Periodic Pension Cost
 

$ 4,359
 

$ 2,988
 

$ 846
 

$ 801
 

$ 264
 

$ 300
 

 
A decrease in the discount rate from 6.25% to 5.75%, and the update of mortality rate tables resulted in increases in pension and other postretirement

benefits in 2005. Registrant contributed $4,338,000 to the pension plan during the third quarter of 2005.  Registrant expects to contribute $754,000 to the
postretirement benefit plan by the end of 2005.

 
Note 9 - New Accounting Pronouncements
 
In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations,” which clarifies that an entity is

required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair value can be reasonably estimated even though
uncertainty exists about the timing and (or) method of settlement.  Registrant is required to adopt Interpretation No. 47 by the end of 2006.  Registrant is
currently evaluating the impact Interpretation No. 47 will have on its results of operations and financial condition. However, since Registrant follows
accounting principles for rate-regulated enterprises and receives recovery of these costs through rates, implementation of this interpretation at GSWC is not
expected to affect earnings.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision to SFAS No. 123, “Share-Based Payment,” (“SFAS No. 123R”) which is a revision of

SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS No. 123”). SFAS No. 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including
grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the income statement based on fair values. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under
SFAS No. 123 no longer will be an alternative to financial statement recognition. In April 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission deferred the
adoption date of SFAS No. 123R to the beginning of the fiscal year that begins after June 15, 2005, (January 1, 2006 for calendar year companies) from a
July 1, 2005 adoption date previously set by the FASB. Registrant expects to adopt this standard on January 1, 2006. Based on stock option grants made in
2005 and currently anticipated for 2006, Registrant estimates it will (assuming the modified prospective method is used) recognize expense for stock options
for the year ending December 31, 2006 in an amount consistent with that disclosed in Note 7 which summarizes the pro forma impact of recognizing stock
expense under the fair value accounting method. Registrant assumes that stock options will be granted in 2006 upon similar terms to options granted in 2005,
which provide for continued vesting of the options following termination of employment, unless the grantee is terminated for cause.  If these assumptions
change, the impact of recognizing stock expense under the fair value accounting method will differ from amounts disclosed in Note 7.

 
In October 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”) was signed into law and provides a new federal income tax deduction from

qualified U.S. production activities, which will be phased in from 2005 through 2010.  During the first quarter of fiscal 2005, Registrant completed its initial
evaluation of the provisions of the Act.  See Note 6 for further information.

 
Note 10 – Contingencies



 
Water Quality-Related Litigation

 
In 1997, GSWC was named as a defendant in nineteen lawsuits that alleged that GSWC and other water utilities, delivered unsafe water to their

customers in the San Gabriel Valley and Pomona Valley areas of Los Angeles County. Plaintiffs in these actions sought damages, including general, special,
and punitive damages, as well as attorney’s fees on certain causes of action, costs of suit, and other unspecified relief.

 
On August 4, 2004, the Trial Judge dismissed GSWC from all nineteen Los Angeles County cases. The order was issued by the Trial Judge presiding

over these matters, and followed a lengthy legal proceeding dating back to April 1997 when the first of the cases was filed by over 140 customers in the San
Gabriel Valley, alleging their water had caused personal injuries of varying types and degrees. The Court found GSWC did not violate established water
quality standards and dismissed the cases after allowing reasonable time and opportunity for the plaintiffs to prove otherwise. GSWC has long asserted that it
meets or exceeds the requirements to provide water within the standards established by the health authorities. On September 21, 2004, GSWC received notice
that several plaintiffs filed an appeal to the trial court’s order to dismiss GSWC. Briefs and reply briefs on the appeal have been filed; however, no date for a
hearing before the appeals court has been set yet.  GSWC is unable to predict the outcome of this appeal.  GSWC was also dismissed from three similar
lawsuits in Northern California in 2004; the plaintiffs in those cases have not filed an appeal.
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GSWC is subject to self-insured retention (deductible) provisions in its applicable insurance policies and has either expensed the self-insured

amounts or has reserved against payment of these amounts as appropriate. GSWC’s various insurance carriers have, to date, provided reimbursement for
much of the costs incurred above the self-insured amounts for defense against these lawsuits, subject to a reservation of rights. In addition, the CPUC has
issued certain decisions, which authorize GSWC to establish a memorandum account to accumulate costs for future recovery, to comply with certain
contamination remediation requirements for future recovery.

 
Aerojet
 
On October 25, 1999, GSWC sued Aerojet for contaminating eastern portions of the Sacramento County groundwater basin. On October 12, 2004,

Registrant reached a final settlement with Aerojet. Under the terms of the settlement, Aerojet paid GSWC $8.7 million in the first quarter of 2004. Aerojet has
also agreed to pay GSWC an additional $8 million, plus interest accruing beginning January 1, 2004, over a five year period beginning in December 2009.
The $8.7 million payment and the $8 million receivable have been applied directly to reduce GSWC’s costs of utility plant and purchased water by $16
million and $735,000, respectively. Prior to the settlement, Aerojet had reimbursed GSWC $4.3 million in capital costs and $171,000 for additional water
supply costs.

 
Aerojet has also agreed to reimburse GSWC $17.5 million, plus interest accruing from January 1, 2004, for its past legal and expert costs. The

recovery of the $17.5 million is contingent upon the issuance of land use approvals for development in a defined area within Aerojet property in Eastern
Sacramento County and the receipt of certain fees in connection with such development.

 
Aerojet has transferred its remediated groundwater to the Sacramento County Water Agency, which will provide treated water for distribution to

GSWC and other water purveyors affected by the contamination. GSWC has entered into an agreement with Sacramento County Water Agency to receive
water. Aerojet has also paid for certain transmission pipelines and upgrades to GSWC’s Coloma Treatment Plant as a contingency plan, should additional
wells be impacted. The pipelines are now in service and the upgraded treatment facilities are expected to be fully operational by the end of 2005.

 
Other Water Quality Litigation
 
Perchlorate and/or Volatile Organic Compounds (“VOC”) have been detected in five wells servicing GSWC’s San Gabriel System. GSWC filed suit

in federal court, along with two other affected water purveyors and the San Gabriel Basin Water Quality Authority (“WQA”), against some of those
responsible for the contamination. Some of the other potential defendants settled with GSWC, other water purveyors and the WQA (the “Water Entities”) on
VOC related issues prior to the filing of the lawsuit. In response to the filing of the Federal lawsuit, the Potentially Responsible Party (“PRP”) defendants
filed motions to dismiss the suit or strike certain portions of the suit. The judge issued a ruling on April 1, 2003 granting in part and denying in part the
defendant’s motions. A key ruling of the court was that the water purveyors, including the Registrant, by virtue of their ownership of wells contaminated with
hazardous chemicals are themselves PRPs under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA”).
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Registrant has, pursuant to permission of the court, amended its suit to claim certain affirmative defenses as an “innocent” party under CERCLA.

Registrant is presently unable to predict the outcome of this ruling on its ability to fully recover from the PRPs future costs associated with the treatment of
these wells. In this same suit, the PRPs have filed cross-complaints against the Water Entities, the Metropolitan Water District, the Main San Gabriel Basin
Watermaster and others on the theory that they arranged for and did transport contaminated water into the Basin for use by Registrant and the other two
affected water purveyors and for other related claims.

 
On August 29, 2003, the US Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) issued Unilateral Administrative Orders (“UAO”) against 41 parties deemed

responsible for polluting the groundwater in that portion of the San Gabriel Valley from which two of GSWC’s impacted wells draw water. GSWC was not
named as a party to the UAO. The UAO requires that these parties remediate the contamination. The judge in the Federal lawsuit has appointed a special
master to oversee mandatory settlement discussions between the PRPs and the Water Entities.  EPA is also conducting settlement discussions with several
PRPs regarding the UAO.  The Water Entities and EPA are working to coordinate their settlement discussions under the special master in order to arrive at a
complete resolution of all issues affecting the Federal lawsuits and the UAO.  Registrant is presently unable to predict the ultimate outcome of these
settlement discussions.

 
Condemnation of Properties
 
The laws of the State of California and the State of Arizona provide for the acquisition of public utility property by governmental agencies through

their power of eminent domain, also known as condemnation, where doing so is in the public interest. In addition, however, the laws of the State of California



also provide: (1) that the owner of the utility property may contest whether the condemnation is actually in the public interest; and (2) that the owner is
entitled to receive the fair market value of its property if the property is ultimately taken.

 
Although the City of Claremont, California located in GSWC’s Region III, has not initiated the formal condemnation process pursuant to California

law, the City has expressed various concerns to GSWC about the rates charged by GSWC and the effectiveness of the CPUC’s rate setting procedures. The
City hired a consultant to perform an appraisal of the value of Registrant’s water system serving the City.  Such value was determined by the consultant at $40
- $45 million. GSWC disagrees with the City’s valuation assessment.  Under California law, the condemning City would be required to pay fair market value
for the water system.  As of September 30, 2005, management believes that the fair market value of the system far exceeds the $33 million recorded net book
value of the Claremont water system.

 
Except for the City of Claremont, Registrant has not been, within the last three years, involved in activities related to the condemnation of any of its

water customer service areas or in its Bear Valley Electric customer service area. However, on April 12, 2005, the Town Council of the Town of Apple Valley
voted 5-0 to authorize Town staff to prepare a Request for Proposal for an evaluation of the feasibility and potential cost of and a timeframe for the potential
takeover of GSWC’s Apple Valley water systems as well as the water systems of another utility serving the Town.  On August 23, 2005, the Town Council
authorized staff to hire a firm to perform a feasibility study and financial analysis regarding the potential takeover.  It is presently unknown when the results
of the study will be presented to the Town.
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GSWC has not received any formal notice from the Town of its intention to condemn the Registrant’s Apple Valley water systems.  Management is

unable to predict what the results of the Town’s evaluation might be and what action, if any, the Town might take as a result of the evaluation.  However,
GSWC will vigorously defend itself should the Town determine to proceed towards condemning its Apple Valley water systems.  As of September 30, 2005,
management believes that the fair value market of the system far exceeds the recorded net book value of the Apple Valley water systems.

 
Santa Maria Groundwater Basin Adjudication
 
In 1997, the Santa Maria Valley Water Conservation District (“plaintiff”) filed a lawsuit against multiple defendants, including GSWC, the City of

Santa Maria, and several other public water purveyors. The plaintiff’s lawsuit seeks an adjudication of the Santa Maria Groundwater Basin.
 
As of September 30, 2005, GSWC has incurred costs in defending its rights in the Basin, including legal and expert witness fees, which have been

deferred in Utility Plant for rate recovery.  Management believes that the recovery of these costs through rates is probable. However, management cannot give
assurance that the CPUC will ultimately allow recovery of all or any of the costs that have been incurred by GSWC in this lawsuit. A settlement has been
reached, subject to CPUC approval. The settlement, among other things, if approved, would preserve GSWC’s historical pumping rights and secure
supplemental water rights for use in case of drought or other reductions in the natural yield of the Basin.

 
Other Litigation
 
Registrant is also subject to ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business. Other than those disclosed above, no other legal proceedings are

pending, which are believed to be material. Management believes that rate recovery, proper insurance coverage and reserves are in place to insure against
property, general liability and workers’ compensation claims incurred in the ordinary course of business.
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Note 11 - Business Segments
 
AWR has three principal business units: water and electric distribution units, through its GSWC subsidiary, a water-service utility operation

conducted through its CCWC unit, and a contracted services unit through the ASUS subsidiary. All activities of GSWC are geographically located within
California. All activities of CCWC are located in the state of Arizona. All activities of ASUS have been conducted in California, Arizona and Texas for the
periods set forth below. Both GSWC and CCWC are regulated utilities. On a stand-alone basis, AWR has no material assets other than its investments in its
subsidiaries. The tables below set forth information relating to GSWC’s operating segments, CCWC and other matters which includes ASUS and its
subsidiaries. Included in the amounts set forth, certain assets, revenues and expenses have been allocated. The identifiable assets are net of respective
accumulated provisions for depreciation. Capital additions reflect capital expenditures paid in cash and exclude property installed by developers and
conveyed to the Company.

 
  

As of and for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2005
   

  
GSWC

 
CCWC

     
Consolidated

 

(dollars in thousands)
 

Water
 

Electric
 

Water
 

Other*
 

Eliminations
 

AWR
 

Operating revenues
 

$ 58,568
 

$ 6,544
 

$ 1,971
 

$ 988
   

$ 68,071
 

Operating income (loss) before income
taxes

 

16,825
 

4,894(1) 322
 

(144)
  

21,897
 

Interest expense, net
 

(1,167) (118) 122
 

204
   

(959)
Identifiable assets

 

620,844
 

39,680
 

37,028
 

678
   

698,230
 

Depreciation and amortization expense
 

3,919
 

512
 

263
 

11
   

4,705
 

Capital additions
 

15,031
 

288
 

805
     

16,124
 

 
 

 
As of and for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2004

   
 

 
GSWC

 
CCWC

     
Consolidated

 

(dollars in thousands)
 

Water
 

Electric
 

Water
 

Other*
 

Eliminations
 

AWR
 

Operating revenues
 

$ 60,506
 

$ 6,208
 

$ 1,973
 

$ 298
 

$ (24) $ 68,961
 

Operating income (loss) before income
taxes

 

18,472
 

684
 

681
 

(1,479)
  

18,358
 

Interest expense, net
 

3,916
 

401
 

108
 

139
   

4,564
 

Identifiable assets
 

571,587
 

37,963
 

33,619
 

318
   

643,487
 

Depreciation and amortization expense 4,935 411 236 7 5,589



Capital additions
 

24,769
 

757
 

1,259
 

153
   

26,938
 

 
 

 
As of and for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005

   
 

 
GSWC

 
CCWC

     
Consolidated

 

(dollars in thousands)
 

Water
 

Electric
 

Water
 

Other*
 

Eliminations
 

AWR
 

Operating revenues
 

$ 150,519
 

$ 20,105
 

$ 5,068
 

$ 2,704
 

$ (35) $ 178,361
 

Operating income (loss) before income
taxes

 

39,729
 

9,236(1) 1,588
 

(1,628)
  

48,925
 

Interest expense, net
 

6,789
 

696
 

346
 

614
   

8,445
 

Identifiable assets
 

620,844
 

39,680
 

37,028
 

678
   

698,230
 

Depreciation and amortization expense
 

13,684
 

1,519
 

788
 

45
   

16,036
 

Capital additions
 

47,108
 

1,648
 

2,843
 

359
   

51,958
 

 

(1)  Includes $4,018,000 and $7,492,000 unrealized gain on purchased power contracts for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005,
respectively.
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As of and for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004

   
 

 
GSWC

 
CCWC

     
Consolidated

 

(dollars in thousands)
 

Water
 

Electric
 

Water
 

Other*
 

Eliminations
 

AWR
 

Operating revenues
 

$ 149,864
 

$ 19,284
 

$ 4,982
 

$ 899
 

$ (73) $ 174,956
 

Operating income (loss) before income
taxes

 

42,744
 

691
 

915
 

(3,815) —
 

40,535
 

Interest expense, net
 

11,468
 

1,173
 

351
 

320
 

—
 

13,312
 

Identifiable assets
 

571,587
 

37,963
 

33,619
 

318
 

—
 

643,487
 

Depreciation and amortization expense
 

13,990
 

1,129
 

706
 

15
 

—
 

15,840
 

Capital additions
 

51,698
 

3,095
 

2,502
 

236
 

—
 

57,531
 

 

* Includes amounts from AWR and ASUS’s contracted services.  Beginning on October 1, 2004, it also includes ASUS’s wholly-owned subsidiary FBWS.
 

Note 12 - Subsequent Events
 
As discussed in Note 2, on October 6, 2005, the CPUC approved an advice letter allowing GSWC to impose temporary surcharges in its Region III

water service area to recover an under-collection of $2.9 million recorded in the supply cost memorandum account between November 2001 and
December 2003. The surcharges went into effect on October 11, 2005 and are expected to recover the $2.9 million over a twelve month period. This will
result in an increase to pre-tax income of $2.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2005.

 
On October 11, 2005, CoBank, ACB (“CoBank”), purchased a 5.87% Senior Note due December 20, 2028 (the “Note”) in the aggregate principal

amount of $40,000,000 from GSWC pursuant to the terms of a Note Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”) dated as of October 11, 2005 between GSWC
and CoBank. The Agreement contains customary events of default, including failure to pay any debt with an aggregate principal amount of more than $2.5
million for a period or more than 60 days from the date due, whether at stated maturity or upon acceleration, and failure to pay a final judgment of more than
$2.5 million within 60 days after entry, unless bonded, discharged or stayed pending appeal or payment over time is permitted by the order of a governmental
agency or by agreement of the parties. The proceeds were used to pay down GSWC’s intercompany short-term borrowings.

 
This Agreement contains restrictions on (i) incurring liens and entering into sale and leaseback transactions, with customary exceptions,

(ii) dispositions of property with a book value of more than 15% of total capitalization (as defined) in any fiscal year, unless the proceeds are used within one
year to purchase public utility property or redeem all or a portion of the amount borrowed from CoBank or other debt ranking pari passu with the debt owed
to CoBank, (iii) merging or consolidating with any other person, unless GSWC is the survivor or the survivor is principally engaged in the business of a water
or wastewater public utility and the financial covenants described below are satisfied on a pro forma basis at the end of the quarter immediately preceding the
merger or consolidation, after giving effect to the transaction, (iv) incurring any indebtedness if, as a result an event of default would occur or the total
indebtedness to EBITDA ratio ( as defined) of GSWC at the end of the quarter preceding the transaction would exceed 8 to 1 or the total indebtedness to
capitalization ratio (as defined) would exceed .6667 to 1, or (v) declaring or paying any dividends in cash or property if at the time of the distribution or
payment, an event of default would occur or, if after giving effect to the distribution, the total indebtedness to capital ratio (as defined) of GSWC would be
more than .6667 to 1.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation
 
Forward-Looking Information
 

Certain matters discussed in this report (including the documents incorporated herein by reference) are forward-looking statements intended to
qualify for the “safe harbor” from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements can
generally be identified as such because the context of the statement will include words such as Registrant “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects” or words of
similar import. Similarly, statements that describe Registrant’s future plans, objectives, estimates or goals are also forward-looking statements. Such
statements address future events and conditions concerning capital expenditures, earnings, litigation, rates, water quality and other regulatory matters,
adequacy of water supplies, GSWC’s ability to recover electric, natural gas and water supply costs from ratepayers, contract operations, liquidity and capital
resources, and accounting matters. Actual results in each case could differ materially from those currently anticipated in such statements, by reason of factors
such as changes in utility regulation, including ongoing local, state and federal activities; recovery of regulatory assets not yet included in rates; future
economic conditions, including changes in customer demand and changes in water and energy supply costs; future climatic conditions; and legislative, legal
proceedings, regulatory and other circumstances affecting anticipated revenues and costs.



The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related
notes thereto and the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto contained in our 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

 
General
 

American States Water Company (“AWR”) is the parent company of Golden State Water Company (“GSWC”), American States Utility
Services, Inc. (“ASUS”) (and its subsidiary, Fort Bliss Water Services Company (“FBWS”)), and Chaparral City Water Company (“CCWC”).  AWR was
incorporated as a California corporation in 1998 as a holding company for GSWC.

 
GSWC is a California public utility company engaged principally in the purchase, production and distribution of water. GSWC also distributes

electricity in one customer service area. GSWC is regulated by the California Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”) and was incorporated on December 31,
1929. GSWC served 252,802 water customers and 22,904 electric customers at September 30, 2005, or a total of 275,706 customers, compared with 274,041
total customers at September 30, 2004. GSWC’s utility operations exhibit seasonal trends. Due to changes in weather, water revenues are higher during the
summer months and lower during the cooler months of each year. Although GSWC’s water utility operations have a diversified customer base, residential and
commercial customers account for the majority of GSWC’s water sales and revenues. Revenues derived from commercial and residential water customers
accounted for approximately 90.2% and 88.8% of total water revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, respectively, as compared to
87.4% and 88.5% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2004, respectively.

 
CCWC is an Arizona public utility company serving 12,959 customers as of September 30, 2005, compared with 12,485 customers at September 30,

2004.
 
ASUS contracts, either directly or through wholly-owned subsidiaries, with various municipalities, the U.S. Government and private entities to

provide water and wastewater services, including billing and meter reading, water marketing and the operation and maintenance of water and wastewater
systems. On October 1, 2004, ASUS commenced operation of the water and wastewater systems at Fort Bliss located near El Paso, Texas, through FBWS,
pursuant to the terms of a 50-year contract with the U.S. Government.
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ASUS is also an active participant in bidding on other contracts for the privatization of military bases.  ASUS entered into agreements to operate and

maintain the water and wastewater systems at Andrews Air Force Base in Maryland, dated September 30, 2005, and Fort Story, Fort Eustis, Fort Monroe and
the wastewater system at Fort Lee, in Virginia, dated September 28, 2005.  Under the terms of these agreements, the aggregate amount of these contracts is
estimated at more than $238 million over a 50-year period and is subject to periodic price re-determination adjustments and modifications for changes in
circumstances. Terrapin Utility Services, Inc. (“TUS”) in Maryland and Old Dominion Utility Services, Inc. (“ODUS”) in Virginia, wholly-owned
subsidiaries of ASUS, will furnish all necessary labor, management, supervision, permits, equipment, supplies, materials, transportation and any other
incidentals for the complete operation, maintenance, repair, upgrades and improvements to the utility systems following  the expiration of a 90-day  transition
period. TUS will also undertake certain capital projects at Andrews Air Force Base during the 90-day transition period. FBWS, TUS and ODUS are referred
to herein as the “Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries”.
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Consolidated Results of Operations – Three Months Ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 (dollars in thousands)
 

  
3 MOS

 
3 MOS

     

  
ENDED

 
ENDED

 
$

 
%

 

  
9/30/2005

 
9/30/2004

 
CHANGE

 
CHANGE

 

OPERATING REVENUES
         

Water
 

$ 60,539
 

$ 62,455
 

$ (1,916) -3.1%
Electric

 

6,544
 

6,208
 

336
 

5.4%
Other

 

988
 

298
 

690
 

231.5%
Total operating revenues

 

68,071
 

68,961
 

(890) -1.3%
          
OPERATING EXPENSES

         

Water purchased
 

15,779
 

15,339
 

440
 

2.9%
Power purchased for pumping

 

3,252
 

2,971
 

281
 

9.5%
Groundwater production assessment

 

2,315
 

2,120
 

195
 

9.2%
Power purchased for resale

 

3,075
 

3,107
 

(32) -1.0%
Unrealized gain on purchased power contracts

 

(4,018) 224
 

(4,242) -1893.8%
Supply cost balancing accounts

 

514
 

1,016
 

(502) -49.4%
Other operating expenses

 

4,850
 

4,818
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0.7%
Administrative and general expenses

 

10,074
 

10,591
 

(517) -4.9%
Depreciation and amortization

 

4,705
 

5,589
 

(884) -15.8%
Maintenance

 

3,080
 

2,593
 

487
 

18.8%
Taxes on income

 

10,558
 

5,692
 

4,866
 

85.5%
Other taxes

 

2,548
 

2,235
 

313
 

14.0%
Total operating expenses

 

56,732
 

56,295
 

437
 

0.8%
          

Operating income
 

11,339
 

12,666
 

(1,327) -10.5%
          
OTHER INCOME (LOSS) - NET

 

(64) (84) 20
 

-23.8%
          
INTEREST CHARGES

 

(959) 4,564
 

(5,523) -121.0%
      



    
NET INCOME

 

$ 12,234
 

$ 8,018
 

$ 4,216
 

52.6%
 

Net income for the three months ended September 30, 2005 increased by 52.6% to $12.2 million, equivalent to $0.72 per common share on a basic
and fully diluted basis, compared to $8.0 million or $0.52 per common share on a basic and fully diluted basis for the three months ended September 30,
2004. Impacting the comparability in the results of the two periods are the following significant items:

 
•                  A favorable decision issued by the CPUC on July 21, 2005 regarding the Aerojet memorandum account which added about $4.3 million

to net income in July 2005 or approximately $0.25 per share. GSWC was authorized to collect the balance of the Aerojet litigation
memorandum account of approximately $21.3 million, through a rate surcharge, which will continue for no longer than 20 years.  As a
result of this decision, in July 2005 GSWC recorded an increase of approximately $6.2 million to the Aerojet regulatory asset to include
previously expensed carrying and other costs, and recorded a corresponding pre-tax gain.  In addition, GSWC was ordered to restore to
the appropriate plant accounts, those amounts that have been reimbursed by Aerojet pursuant to the settlement. This resulted in GSWC
recording an approximate $1.0 million decrease to depreciation expense during the third quarter of 2005.  The following is a summary of
the impact on the results of operations for the three months ended September 30, 2005 resulting from this decision:
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Amount
 

  
Increase / (Decrease)

 

Operating Expenses
   

Power purchased for resale
 

$ (31,230)
Other operating expenses

 

(459,415)
Administrative and general expenses

 

(16,963)
Depreciation and amortization

 

(992,232)
Total pre-tax impact to operating expenses

 

(1,499,840)
    
Interest Charges

   

Other interest and amortization of debt expense
 

(5,691,634)
    
Total pre-tax impact to results of operations

 

$ 7,191,474
 

Impact to taxes on income
 

2,930,238
 

Total impact to net income
 

$ 4,261,236
 

    
Impact to Basic Earnings per Share

 

$ 0.25
 

Impact to Diluted Earnings per Share
 

$ 0.25
 

 
•                  A significant increase in the unrealized gain on purchased power contracts due to an increase in forward energy prices. This unrealized

gain added approximately $0.14 per share to the three months ended September 30, 2005, as compared to the unrealized loss of $0.01 per
share for the same period of 2004.

 
•                  The increases were partially offset by approximately $0.08 per share due to retroactive revenues recorded in the third quarter of 2004 as

discussed below.  There were no retroactive revenues recorded in the same period of 2005.
 
•                  A 2.7% decrease in water consumption impacted revenues negatively by approximately $1.1 million (or approximately $0.03 per share

impact) as discussed below.
 
•                  A higher effective tax rate reduced earnings by $0.07 per share resulting from differences between book and taxable income that are

treated as flow-through adjustments in accordance with regulatory requirements.
 

Operating Revenues
 

Registrant relies upon rate approval by state regulatory agencies in California and Arizona, in order to recover operating expenses and provide for a
return on invested and borrowed capital used to fund utility plant. Without such adequate rate relief granted in a timely manner, revenues and earnings can be
negatively impacted.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2005, revenues from water utility operations decreased by 3.1% to $60.5 million, compared to $62.5

million for the three months ended September 30, 2004. The decrease primarily reflects: (i) a favorable CPUC decision resulting in the recording of
approximately $2.0 million in August 2004 related to additional revenues associated with the Region II rate increase approved by the CPUC in August 2004
that were retroactive to February 14, 2004, pursuant to new legislation effective January 1, 2004; there were no corresponding retroactive revenues recorded
in 2005, and (ii) decreases in water consumption of approximately 2.7% due to changes in weather conditions. These decreases were partially offset by
increases in water rates covering almost all of GSWC’s water
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customers. Differences in temperature and rainfall in Registrant’s service areas impact sales of water to customers, causing fluctuations in Registrant’s
revenues and earnings between comparable periods.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2005, revenues from electric operations increased by 5.4% to $6.5 million compared to $6.2 million for

the three months ended September 30, 2004. The increase reflects primarily a rate increase effective on April 15, 2005 related to the 8.4 MW natural gas-



fueled generation facility. This new rate is expected to increase annual revenues by approximately $2.7 million. For the three months ended September 30,
2005, the rate increase was partially offset by a 3% decrease in kilowatt-hour consumption.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2005, other operating revenues increased by 231.5% to $988,000 compared to $298,000 for the three

months ended September 30, 2004 due primarily to approximately $543,000 of additional revenues associated with the operation of the water and wastewater
systems at Fort Bliss, located near El Paso, Texas that commenced on October 1, 2004.

 
Operating Expenses
 

For the three months ended September 30, 2005, purchased water costs increased by 2.9% to $15.8 million compared to $15.3 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2004 due to supplier rate increases.  In addition, 49.8% of the Company’s supply mix was purchased water for the third quarter
of 2005 as compared to 48.9% purchased water for the same period of 2004.  These increases were partially offset by a decline in customer demand resulting
from lower consumption.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2005, the cost of power purchased for pumping increased by 9.5% to $3.3 million compared to $3.0

million for the three months ended September 30, 2004 due to rate increases from suppliers, offset by a decrease in water consumption.
 
For the three months ended September 30, 2005, groundwater production assessments increased by 9.2% as compared to the three months ended

September 30, 2004 due to increases in assessment rates levied against groundwater production, effective July 2005. Average pump tax rates increased in
Regions II and III by approximately 5% and 22%, respectively.  The increases were offset by a decrease in well production due to decreased consumption.

 
Changes in the water resource mix between water supplied from purchased sources and that supplied from Registrant’s own wells can

increase/decrease actual supply-related costs relative to that approved for recovery through rates, thereby impacting earnings either negatively or positively.
Registrant has the opportunity to change the supply-related costs recovered through rates by application to the appropriate regulatory body. Registrant
believes that its applications for recovery of supply-related costs accurately reflect the water supply situation as it is known at the time of filing of the
applications. However, it is impossible to adequately protect earnings from adverse changes in supply costs related to unforeseen contamination or other loss
of water supply.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2005, cost of power purchased for resale to customers in GSWC’s Bear Valley Electric division decreased

by 1.0% as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2004 due primarily to a decrease in kilowatt-hour usage.
 
Unrealized gain and loss on purchased power contracts represents gains and losses recorded for GSWC’s purchased power agreements with Pinnacle

West Capital Corporation (“PWCC”), which qualify as derivative instruments under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities”. The $4,018,000 pretax unrealized gain on purchased power contracts for the three months ended September 30, 2005 is due to an increase in
current forward market prices since June 30, 2005. As of September 30, 2005, GSWC has recorded a cumulative unrealized gain of $5.5 million on its
balance
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sheet.  Unrealized gains and losses at the Bear Valley Electric division of GSWC will continue to impact earnings during the life of the contract with PWCC,
which terminates in 2008.

 
A decrease of $502,000 during the three months ended September 30, 2005 in the provision for supply cost balancing accounts as compared to the

three months ended September 30, 2004 primarily reflects: (i) a decrease of $375,000 in amortization primarily related to pre-November 2001 water supply
cost balancing accounts and the electric balancing account, and (ii) a decrease of $107,000 in the electric supply cost balancing account due to a lower amount
being written off over the $77 per MWh recovery cap authorized by the CPUC.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2005, other operating expenses increased slightly by 0.7% to $4.9 million compared to $4.8 million for

the three months ended September 30, 2004 due to: (i) higher labor costs in 2005 which increased by approximately $113,000 at GSWC; (ii) higher operating
expenses of $143,000 at ASUS due to the commencement of operations of the water and wastewater system at Fort Bliss; (iii) higher chemical and water
treatment costs which increased by approximately $127,000, and (iv) a net increase of approximately $90,000 in various other operating expenses.  These
increases were offset by a $459,000 adjustment reflecting the approval from the CPUC of recovery of previously incurred operating expenses in the Aerojet
memorandum account.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2005, administrative and general expenses decreased by 4.9% to $10.1 million compared to $10.6 million

for the three months ended September 30, 2004.  The decrease was due to: (i) lower outside services costs of approximately $646,000 in connection with new
business development and other matters, and (ii) net decreases in various other miscellaneous expenses totaling $440,000. These decreases were offset by an
approximate $300,000 increase in pensions and benefits caused by actuarial assumption changes in the discount rate and mortality tables, and increases of
approximately $268,000 in various other benefit costs. Registrant believes that prudent administrative expenses approved in advance by state regulators to be
incurred in the operation and management of its regulated subsidiaries will be recovered through water and electric rates.  Amounts included in each general
rate case are estimated for future years.  Overages from those estimates are not covered in rates.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2005, depreciation and amortization expense decreased by 15.8% to $4.7 million compared to $5.6

million for the three months ended September 30, 2004.  This decrease in depreciation expense resulted from the favorable CPUC decision on the Aerojet
matter, discussed previously, which ordered GSWC to restore approximately $1 million to the appropriate plant accounts and decrease depreciation expense.
In addition, Region II’s general rate case was approved in August 2004 by the CPUC, which increased the depreciation composite rates, retroactive to
February 14, 2004 to match with the timing of revenue recovery. This resulted in an increase in depreciation expense of approximately $344,000 for the three
months ended September 30, 2004. There was no corresponding increase in 2005. These decreases were partially offset by, among other things, the effects of
recording approximately $71 million in additions to utility plant during 2004, depreciation on which began in January 2005. Registrant anticipates that
depreciation expense will continue to increase due to Registrant’s on-going construction program at its regulated subsidiaries. Registrant believes that
depreciation expense related to property additions approved by the appropriate regulatory agency will be recovered through water and electric rates.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2005, maintenance expenses increased by 18.8% to $3.1 million compared to $2.6 million for the three

months ended September 30, 2004 due principally to increases in scheduled maintenance and emergency repairs at GSWC’s Regions II and III.  Maintenance



expense increases for regulated activities are included in each general rate case and are covered in rates, unless disallowed as not reasonable or prudent.  Each
of the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries bears the risk of increases in maintenance and all other costs above those authorized in the contract for
operation of the water and wastewater systems for the U.S. Army or Air Force, unless it is entitled to an equitable adjustment for such matters as an increase
in labor rates, changes in circumstances or differing site conditions from those anticipated at the time of execution of the contract.
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For the three months ended September 30, 2005, taxes on operating income increased by 85.5% to $10.6 million compared to $5.7 million for the

three months ended September 30, 2004 due, in part, to an increase in pretax operating income of 65.7%.  In addition, the effective tax rate (“ETR”)
applicable to the three months ended September 30, 2005 increased to 46.2% as compared to a 41.3% ETR applicable to the three months ended
September 30, 2004.  The variance between the ETR and the statutory tax rate is primarily the result of differences between book and taxable income that are
treated as flow-through adjustments in accordance with regulatory requirements. Flow-through adjustments increase or decrease tax expense in one period,
with an offsetting increase or decrease occurring in another period.  During the second quarter of 2005, the recognition of the federal benefit of state taxes
was adjusted to conform to the flow-through method reflected in the tax calculation for ratemaking purposes, which partially defers the recognition of the
benefit to the subsequent tax year.  This resulted in additional income taxes of $801,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2005.

 
For the three months ended September 30, 2005, other taxes increased by 14.0% to $2.5 million compared to $2.2 million for the three months ended

September 30, 2004 reflecting additional property taxes of $273,000 resulting from higher assessed values, and increases in payroll taxes of approximately
$27,000 based on increased labor costs.

 
Other Income (Loss)
 

For the three months ended September 30, 2005, other net income (loss) was a loss of $64,000 as compared to a loss of $84,000 for the three months
ended September 30, 2004. This was largely due to an increase in charitable contributions of $29,000 in connection with the Katrina Relief Fund, offset by
increases in other investment income.

 
Interest Charges
 

For the three months ended September 30, 2005, interest expense decreased by $5.5 million reflecting the approval from the CPUC of previously
incurred and expensed interest costs totaling $5.7 million in the Aerojet memorandum account, discussed previously. This was offset by increases in short-
term borrowings and higher interest rates on short-term borrowings of approximately $232,000.
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Consolidated Results of Operations – Nine Months Ended September 30, 2005 and 2004 (dollars in thousands)
 

  
9 MOS

 
9 MOS

     

  
ENDED

 
ENDED

 
$

 
%

 

  
9/30/2005

 
9/30/2004

 
CHANGE

 
CHANGE

 

OPERATING REVENUES
         

Water
 

$ 155,587
 

$ 154,773
 

$ 814
 

0.5%
Electric

 

20,105
 

19,284
 

821
 

4.3%
Other

 

2,669
 

899
 

1,770
 

196.9%
Total operating revenues

 

178,361
 

174,956
 

3,405
 

1.9%
          
OPERATING EXPENSES

         

Water purchased
 

35,742
 

37,022
 

(1,280) -3.5%
Power purchased for pumping

 

6,923
 

7,103
 

(180) -2.5%
Groundwater production assessment

 

6,079
 

5,280
 

799
 

15.1%
Power purchased for resale

 

9,922
 

10,474
 

(552) -5.3%
Unrealized gain on purchased power contracts

 

(7,492) (257) (7,235) 2815.2%
Gain on settlement for removal of wells

 

(760) —
 

(760) -100.0%
Gain on sale of water rights

 

—
 

(5,675) 5,675
 

-100.0%
Supply cost balancing accounts

 

1,042
 

4,835
 

(3,793) -78.4%
Other operating expenses

 

15,137
 

14,538
 

599
 

4.1%
Administrative and general expenses

 

31,698
 

31,166
 

532
 

1.7%
Depreciation and amortization

 

16,036
 

15,840
 

196
 

1.2%
Maintenance

 

8,068
 

7,529
 

539
 

7.2%
Taxes on income

 

18,582
 

11,720
 

6,862
 

58.5%
Other taxes

 

7,041
 

6,566
 

475
 

7.2%
Total operating expenses

 

148,018
 

146,141
 

1,877
 

1.3%
          

Operating income
 

30,343
 

28,815
 

1,528
 

5.3%
          
OTHER INCOME (LOSS) - NET

 

(165) 371
 

(536) -144.5%
          
INTEREST CHARGES

 

8,445
 

13,312
 

(4,867) -36.6%
          
NET INCOME

 

$ 21,733
 

$ 15,874
 

$ 5,859
 

36.9%
 

Net income for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 increased 36.9% to $21.7 million, equivalent to $1.29 per common share on a basic and
fully diluted basis, compared to $15.9 million or $1.04 per share for the nine months ended September 30, 2004. Impacting the comparability in the results of



the two periods are the following significant items:
 
•                  A favorable decision issued by the CPUC in 2004 that resulted in a $5.7 million pre-tax gain on the sale of water rights during the second

quarter of 2004 offset by an impairment loss of $482,000 associated with related assets removed from rate base pursuant to this decision.  This
$5.2 million net gain added approximately $0.20 per share to the nine months ended September 30, 2004.

 
•                  A significant increase in the unrealized gain on purchased power contracts due to increasing energy prices.  This unrealized gain added

approximately $7.5 million to pretax income, or $0.26 per share, to the nine months ended September 30, 2005, as compared to the unrealized
gain of $0.3 million, or $0.01 per share, for the same period of 2004.
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•                  As discussed in the quarterly results, the increase in the nine months recorded results reflects a favorable decision issued by the CPUC on

July 21, 2005 regarding the Aerojet memorandum account which added about $4.3 million to net income in July or approximately $0.25 per
share.  The impact to pre-tax income was to reduce interest charges, depreciation expense and other operating expenses as discussed below.

 
•                  A significant decrease in the provision for supply cost balancing account. In May 2004, GSWC recorded a cumulative $2.7 million regulatory

liability with a corresponding charge booked to the provision for supply cost balancing account as a result of the advice letters filed for the
memorandum supply cost accounts for Regions I and II that had net over-collection balances covering 2001, 2002, 2003 and parts of 2004.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, there was no similar charge for over-collection. In addition, an approximate $1.3 million
under-collection in Region III’s 2004 memorandum supply cost account which was approved by the CPUC in June of 2005 and was recorded
during the nine months ended September 30, 2005 as a reduction to the provision.

 
•                  Water rate increases contributed approximately $6.1 million to revenues, almost all of which was offset by a 6.9% decrease in billed water

consumption. The decrease in consumption negatively impacted earnings by approximately $0.15 per share.
 
•                  A higher effective tax rate reduced earnings by $0.07 per share resulting from differences between book and taxable income that are treated as

flow-through adjustments in accordance with regulatory requirements.
 

Operating Revenues
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, revenues from water operations remained relatively flat compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2004. Water revenues reflect rate increases in 2004 and 2005 covering almost all of GSWC’s water customers which contributed $6.1 million
in increased revenues, offset by a decrease of 6.9% in billed water consumption resulting from changes in weather conditions. Differences in temperature and
rainfall in Registrant’s service areas impact sales of water to customers, causing fluctuations in Registrant’s revenues and earnings between comparable
periods.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, revenues from electric operations increased by 4.3% to $20.1 million compared to $19.3 million for

the nine months ended September 30, 2004. The increase reflects a rate increase related to the commencement of operations of an 8.4 MW natural gas-fueled
generation facility.  The new rates went into effect on April 15, 2005.  The rate increase for this facility is expected to generate approximately $2.7 million in
additional annual revenues and is subject to refund.  The increase was offset by a slight decrease in kilowatt-hour consumption.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, other operating revenues increased by 196.9% to $2.7 million compared to $899,000 for the nine

months ended September 30, 2004 due primarily to approximately $1.6 million of additional revenues associated with the operation of the water and
wastewater systems at Fort Bliss, located near El Paso, Texas that commenced on October 1, 2004 pursuant to the terms of a 50-year contract between FBWS
and the U.S. Government.
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Operating Expenses
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2004, 47.2% of the Company’s supply mix was purchased water. Purchased water costs
decreased by 3.5% to $35.7 million compared to $37.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 due primarily to a decline in customer demand
resulting from lower consumption. These decreases were offset by increases in supplier rates.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, the cost of power purchased for pumping decreased by 2.5% to $6.9 million compared to $7.1

million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 due primarily to a decrease in kilowatt hour usage caused by lower customer demand.
 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, groundwater production assessments increased by 15.1% as compared to the nine months ended

September 30, 2004 due primarily to increases in assessment rates levied against groundwater production in Regions II and III, effective July 2004 and 2005.
Average pump tax rates increased in Regions II and III in July 2004 by approximately 11% and 15%, respectively, and increased by 5% and 22%,
respectively, in July 2005. In addition, GSWC received $728,000 for leasing temporary surplus water rights during the nine months ended September 30,
2004 which was recorded as a reduction to groundwater production assessments as compared to $221,000 received for the nine months ended September 30,
2005. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in well production due to a decline in customer demand.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, cost of power purchased for resale to customers in GSWC’s Bear Valley Electric division decreased

by 5.3% to $9.9 million compared to $10.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004. The decrease was due primarily to two related events with
Mirant Americas Energy Marketing (“Mirant Marketing”). The first event was the recording of additional one time costs for the nine months ended
September 2004 that did not recur in the nine months ended September 2005.  The additional one time costs booked in the first nine months of 2004 was due
to a refund to Mirant Marketing of $644,000 ordered by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) in March of 2004 for the one-time sale of
excess energy in the spot market. While this increased the cost of power purchased for resale, GSWC also booked the refund payment to Mirant Marketing in



its supply cost balancing account; therefore, there was no net impact on earnings in 2004. The second event was the result of a FERC order in November of
2004 in which FERC ordered Mirant Marketing to reimburse $247,000 of the amount GSWC had refunded to Mirant Marketing. GSWC received the
reimbursement of $247,000 from Mirant Marketing in May of 2005. GSWC recorded the Mirant Marketing reimbursement in its supply cost balancing
account which also resulted in no net impact on earnings in 2005. These decreases were partially offset by: (i) an increase of approximately $193,000 in
charges from Southern California Edison due to rate increases, and (ii) increases in power costs paid to APX of approximately $65,000.

 
Unrealized gain and loss on purchased power contracts represents gains and losses recorded for GSWC’s purchased power agreements with PWCC,

which qualify as derivative instruments under SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”. The $7,492,000 pretax
unrealized gain on purchased power contracts for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 is due to an increase in the current forward market prices since
December 31, 2004. As of September 30, 2005, GSWC has recorded a cumulative unrealized gain of $5.5 million on its balance sheet.  Unrealized gains and
losses at Bear Valley Electric will continue to impact earnings during the life of the contract with PWCC, which terminates in 2008.
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, Registrant recorded a net pre-tax gain of $760,000 on a settlement reached with the Fountain Hills

Sanitary District (“FHSD”) in February 2005 for the capping of two CCWC wells in order to facilitate FHSD’s ability to secure certain permits.  Pursuant to
the settlement agreement, CCWC agreed to permanently remove from service and cap one of its wells, and cap another well which had never been used as a
potable source of supply.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2004, Registrant recorded a $5.7 million pre-tax gain on the sale of water rights reflecting a favorable

CPUC decision in 2004. The $5.7 million represented settlement proceeds received in May 2004 from the City of Santa Monica relating to the sale and the
assignment of rights regarding the Charnock Groundwater Basin.

 
A decrease of $3.8 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2005 in the provision for supply cost balancing accounts as compared to the

nine months ended September 30, 2004 primarily reflects: (i) the recording in May 2004 of a cumulative $2.7 million regulatory liability with a
corresponding charge booked to the provision for supply cost balancing account as a result of the advice letters filed for the memorandum supply cost
accounts for Regions I and II that had net over-collection balances covering 2001, 2002, 2003 and parts of 2004; there was no similar charge during the same
period of 2005; (ii) approval by the CPUC in June 2005 to recover an approximate $1.3 million under-collection in Region III’s 2004 memorandum supply
cost account; (iii) a decrease of $883,000 in amortization primarily related to pre-November 2001 water supply cost balancing accounts and the electric
balancing account, and (iv) a decrease of $283,000 in the electric supply cost amounts in excess of the $77 per MWh recovery cap authorized by the CPUC.
These decreases were offset by: (i) a net change in the current period of $622,000 in the over-collections of the memorandum supply cost accounts, and
(ii) the net refunds to Mirant Marketing previously discussed in cost of power purchased for resale in GSWC’s Bear Valley Electric service area.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, other operating expenses increased by 4.1% to $15.1 million compared to $14.5 million for the nine

months ended September 30, 2004 due primarily to: (i) higher labor costs as a result of higher wages which increased by approximately $908,000 at GSWC;
(ii) higher operating expenses of $439,000 at ASUS due to the commencement of operations of the water and wastewater system at Fort Bliss, and (iii) higher
chemicals and water treatment costs of $152,000 at GSWC. These increases were offset by: (i) an impairment loss of $482,000 that was recorded at the end of
the second quarter of 2004 related to the Charnock Groundwater Basin assets being removed from rate-base pursuant to a CPUC order in 2004, and (ii) by a
$459,000 adjustment in the third quarter of 2005 reflecting the approval from the CPUC of recovery of previously incurred operating expenses in the Aerojet
memorandum account.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, administrative and general expenses increased by 1.7% to $31.7 million compared to $31.2 million

for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 due to: (i) an approximate $900,000 increase in pensions and benefits due to changes in actuarial assumptions
with respect to the discount rate and mortality tables, and increases of approximately $834,000 in various other benefit costs, (ii) an approximate $347,000
increase in GSWC’s general office labor costs due to higher wages, and (iii) an approximate $351,000 increase at FBWS due to the commencement of
operations of the water and wastewater system at Fort Bliss. These increases were partially offset by: (i) a $1.4 million decrease in outside services in
connection with new business development and other matters, and (ii) a net decrease of approximately $536,000 in various other miscellaneous expenses.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, depreciation and amortization expense increased by 1.2% to $16.0 million compared to $15.8

million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004 reflecting, among other things, the effects of recording approximately $71 million in additions to
utility plant during 2004, depreciation on which began in January 2005. This increase was offset by a decrease in depreciation expense resulting from the
favorable CPUC decision on the Aerojet matter, discussed previously, which ordered GSWC to restore approximately $1 million to the appropriate plant
accounts
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and decrease depreciation expense.  Registrant anticipates that depreciation expense will continue to increase due to Registrant’s on-going construction
program at its regulated subsidiaries. Registrant believes that depreciation expense related to property additions approved by the appropriate regulatory
agency will be recovered through water and electric rates.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, maintenance expense increased by 7.2% to $8.1 million compared to $7.5 million for the nine

months ended September 30, 2004 due principally to increases in scheduled maintenance and emergency repairs at GSWC’s Region III and an increase of
$169,000 in maintenance expenses for FBWS due to the Fort Bliss operations which began in October 2004. Each of the Military Utility Privatization
Subsidiaries bears the risk of increases in maintenance and all other costs above those authorized in the contract for operation of the water and wastewater
systems for the U.S. Army and Air Force, unless it is entitled to an equitable adjustment for such matters as an increase in labor rates, changes in
circumstances or differing site conditions from those anticipated at the time of execution of the contract.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, taxes on operating income increased by 58.5% to $18.6 million compared to $11.7 million for the

nine months ended September 30, 2004 due, in part, to an increase in pretax operating income of 48.7%. In addition, the ETR applicable to the nine months
ended September 30, 2005 increased to 45.9% as compared to a 43.1% ETR applicable to the nine months ended September 30, 2004.  The variance between
the ETR and the statutory tax rate is primarily the result of differences between book and taxable income that are treated as flow-through adjustments in
accordance with regulatory requirements.  Flow-through adjustments increase or decrease tax expense in one period, with an offsetting increase or decrease



occurring in another period.  During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, the recognition of the federal benefit of state taxes was adjusted to conform
to the flow-through method reflected in the tax calculation for ratemaking purposes, which partially defers the recognition of the benefit to the subsequent tax
year.  This resulted in additional income taxes of $1,190,000.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, other taxes increased by 7.2% to $7.0 million compared to $6.6 million for the nine months ended

September 30, 2004 reflecting an increase of approximately $351,000 in additional property taxes resulting from higher assessed values, and increases in
payroll taxes of approximately $112,000 based on increased labor costs.

 
Other Income (Loss)
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, other net income (loss) was a loss of $165,000 as compared to income of $371,000 for the nine
months ended September 30, 2004. This was largely due to a reduction in GSWC’s estimate of customer refunds associated with lease revenues from the City
of Folsom adjusted in September 2004.

 
Interest Charges
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, interest charges decreased by 36.6% to $8.4 million compared to $13.3 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2004 reflecting the approval from the CPUC of previously incurred and expensed carrying costs totaling $5.7 million in the Aerojet
memorandum account, discussed previously. This was offset by increases in short-term borrowings and higher interest rates on short-term borrowings of
approximately $645,000. In addition, during the first quarter of 2004 GSWC recorded the recovery of carrying costs of approximately $168,000 with respect
to the costs incurred in connection with the CPUC’s investigation of water quality matters relating to public utilities regulated by the CPUC which was
authorized by the CPUC in March 2004. There was no corresponding recovery in 2005.
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Critical Accounting Policies
 

Critical accounting policies are those that are important to the portrayal of AWR’s financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, and
require the most difficult, subjective or complex judgments of AWR’s management. The need to make estimates about the effect of items that are uncertain is
what makes these judgments difficult, subjective and/or complex. Management makes subjective judgments about the accounting and regulatory treatment of
many items. These judgments are based on AWR’s historical experience, terms of existing contracts, AWR’s observance of trends in the industry, information
provided by customers and information available from other outside sources, as appropriate. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions.

 
The critical accounting policies used in the preparation of the Registrant’s financial statements that we believe affect the more significant judgments

and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements presented in this report are described in “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation” included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. There have
been no material changes to the critical accounting policies since December 31, 2004.

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

AWR
 
AWR funds its operating expenses and pays dividends on its outstanding common shares primarily through dividends from its subsidiaries,

principally GSWC.
 
Net cash provided by operating activities was $45.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 as compared to $48.1 million for the nine

months ended September 30, 2004. The decrease of $2.9 million was primarily attributable to the receipt in the first quarter of 2004 of $8.7 million from
Aerojet in connection with the settlement of the litigation which accounted for the change in other accounts receivable. This decrease was offset primarily by
the receipt of $5.0 million in federal tax refunds during the nine months ended September 30, 2005 not received during the nine months ended September 30,
2004. A change in cash provided by operating activities is also affected by the timing of cash receipts and disbursements related to other working capital
items.

 
Net cash used in investing activities was $52.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 as compared to $57.5 million for the nine

months ended September 30, 2004 due to higher capital expenditures incurred during the third quarter of 2004.
 
Net cash provided by financing activities was $8.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 as compared to net cash provided by

financing activities of $3.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004. The increase in net cash provided by financing activities was due primarily
to an increase in short-term borrowings against the revolving credit line and by a $2.0 million increase in receipt of advances for and contributions in aid of
construction.  In addition, the change also reflects approximately $35 million of proceeds from the issuance of common shares which was then used to pay
down $28 million of short-term borrowings in September of 2004.

 
In June 2005, AWR amended and restated its credit agreement which increased its borrowing limit under this facility to $85 million and extended the

maturity date to June 2010. Up to $20 million of this facility may be used for letters of credit. As of September 30, 2005, an aggregate of $55 million in cash
borrowing included in current liabilities and approximately $11.2 million of letters of credit were outstanding under this facility.
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Registrant anticipates that interest costs will increase in future periods due to the need for additional external capital to fund its construction program,

potential general market interest rate increases and the April, 2004 downgrade of AWR’s credit rating by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Service (S&P) from A+
to A- with a negative outlook. S&P debt ratings range from AAA (highest rating possible) to D (obligation is in default). Securities ratings are not



recommendations to buy, sell or hold a security and are subject to change or withdrawal at any time by the rating agency. Registrant believes that costs
associated with capital used to fund construction at its regulated subsidiaries will continue to be recovered in water and electric rates charged to customers.

 
GSWC
 
Net cash provided by operating activities was $47.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 as compared to $50.6 million for the nine

months ended September 30, 2004.  The decrease of $3.4 million in cash provided by operations was primarily attributable to the receipt in the first quarter of
2004 of $8.7 million from Aerojet in connection with a settlement agreement. This was offset by: (i) the payment of approximately $1.4 million to Southern
California Edison in March of 2004 pursuant to a settlement agreement, with no corresponding payment in 2005, and (ii) an approximately $3.5 million
increase in intercompany receivable/payable.  There were also other changes in the timing of cash receipts from customer accounts receivable and
disbursements related to other working capital items.

 
Net cash used in investing activities decreased to $48.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 as compared to $54.8 million for the

same period of 2004 due to higher capital expenditures during the third quarter of 2004.
 
Net cash provided by financing activities was $3.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 as compared to net cash used in financing

activities of $1.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2004, reflecting primarily an increase in intercompany borrowings.  There was also an
$823,000 increase in receipt of advances for and contributions in aid of construction in 2005.  In addition, the change reflects $28 million received by GSWC
from the issuance of common shares to AWR, offset by the repayment of $24.5 million of intercompany short-term borrowings in 2004.

 
GSWC funds the majority of its operating expenses, payments on its debt, and dividends on its outstanding common shares through internal sources.

Internal sources of cash flow are provided primarily by retention of a portion of earnings from operating activities. Internal cash generation is influenced by
factors such as weather patterns, environmental regulation, litigation, changes in supply costs and regulatory decisions affecting GSWC’s ability to recover
these supply costs, and timing of rate relief.

 
GSWC also relies on external sources, including equity investments and short-term borrowings from AWR, long-term debt, contributions-in-aid-of-

construction, advances for construction and install-and-convey advances to fund the majority of its construction expenditures. GSWC has a Registration
Statement on file with the SEC for issuance from time to time, of up to $100 million of debt securities. As of September 30, 2005, $50 million remained for
issuance under this Registration Statement.

 
On October 11, 2005, CoBank purchased a 5.87% Senior Note due December 20, 2028 (the “Note”) in the aggregate principal amount of

$40,000,000 from GSWC pursuant to the terms of a Note Purchase Agreement dated as of October 11, 2005 between GSWC and CoBank. The proceeds were
used to pay down GSWC’s intercompany short-term borrowings.

 
In February 2005, Moody’s Investor Services (“Moody’s”) changed the rating outlook for $175 million of senior unsecured debt at GSWC from A2

negative to A2 stable.  Moody’s debt ratings range from Aaa (best quality) to C (lowest quality). GSWC currently has a debt rating of A- with negative
outlook by S&P.  Securities ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold a security and are subject to change or withdrawal at any time by the rating
agency.
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CCWC
 
CCWC funds the majority of its operating expenses, payments on its debt and dividends, if any, through internal operating sources or short-term

borrowings from AWR. CCWC also relies on external sources, including long-term debt, contributions-in-aid-of-construction, advances for construction and
install-and-convey advances, to fund the majority of its construction expenditures.

 
ASUS
 
ASUS funds its operating expenses primarily through management fees and investments by or loans from AWR.  ASUS, in turn, provides funding to

the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries.
 

Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments
 

The following is an update to AWR’s contractual obligations and other commitments. See “Managements’ Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operation—Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments” section of the Registrant’s Form 10-K for the year-ended 2004  for a
detailed discussion of contractual obligations and other commitments.

 
In June 2005, AWR amended and restated its syndicated revolving credit agreement which increased its borrowing limit under this agreement to $85

million and extended the maturity date to June 2010.  Up to $20 million of this facility may be used for letters of credit. As of September 30, 2005, an
aggregate of $55 million in cash borrowings are included in current liabilities and approximately $11.2 million of letters of credit were outstanding under this
facility. The syndicated revolving credit facility contains restrictions on prepayments, disposition of property, mergers, liens indebtedness and guaranty
obligations and, transactions with affiliates and contains a negative pledge, minimum interest coverage requirements, a maximum debt to capitalization ratio,
and a minimum debt rating covenant. Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, AWR must maintain a minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.25 times interest
expense, a maximum total funded debt ratio of 0.65 to 1.00 and a minimum debt rating of Baa3 or BBB-.

 
On October 11, 2005, CoBank purchased a 5.87% Senior Note due December 20, 2028 in the aggregate principal amount of $40,000,000 from

GSWC pursuant to the terms of a Note Purchase Agreement dated as of October 11, 2005 between GSWC and CoBank. The proceeds were used to pay down
GSWC’s intercompany short-term borrowings. This Agreement contains restrictions on (i) incurring liens and entering into sale and leaseback transactions,
with customary exceptions, (ii) dispositions of property with a book value of more than 15% of total capitalization (as defined) in any fiscal year, unless the
proceeds are used within one year to purchase public utility property or redeem all or a portion of the amount borrowed from CoBank or other debt ranking
pari passu with the debt owed to CoBank, (iii) merging or consolidating with any other person, unless GSWC is the survivor or the survivor is principally
engaged in the business of a water or wastewater public utility and the financial covenants described below are satisfied on a pro forma basis at the end of the
quarter immediately preceding the merger or consolidation, after giving effect to the transaction, (iv) incurring any indebtedness if, as a result an event of



default would occur or the total indebtedness to EBITDA ratio ( as defined) of GSWC at the end of the quarter preceding the transaction would exceed 8 to 1
or the total indebtedness to capitalization ratio (as defined) would exceed .6667 to 1, or (v) declaring or paying any dividends in cash or property if at the time
of the distribution or payment, an event of default would occur or, if after giving effect to the distribution, the total indebtedness to capital ratio (as defined) of
GSWC would be more than .6667 to 1.

 
Under the terms of its power purchase contracts, GSWC is required to post security, at the request of the seller, if GSWC is in default under the terms

of the contract and the future value of the contract is greater than the future value of contracts of a similar term on the date of default. GSWC will be in
default under the terms of these contracts if its debt is rated less than BBB- by S&P or Fitch, Inc. (“Fitch”) or less
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than Baa3 by Moody’s. GSWC currently has a senior unsecured debt rating of A- with a negative outlook by S&P and A2 with a recent upgrade from
negative to “stable outlook” by Moody’s. Fitch does not rate GSWC.

 
S&P debt ratings range from AAA (highest rating possible) to D (obligation is in default). Moody’s debt ratings range from Aaa (best quality) to C

(lowest quality). Securities ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold a security and are subject to change or withdrawal at any time by the rating
agency.

 
Construction Program
 

GSWC maintains an ongoing water distribution main replacement program throughout its customer service areas based on the priority of leaks
detected, fire protection enhancement and an underlying replacement schedule. In addition, GSWC upgrades its electric and water supply facilities in
accordance with industry standards, local requirements and CPUC requirements.  As of September 30, 2005, GSWC has unconditional purchase obligations
for capital projects of approximately $36.5 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, GSWC spent $48.8 million for these purposes.

 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2005, CCWC spent $2,843,000 primarily related to a new water treatment facility, the cost of which is

included in rates authorized by the ACC in October 2005.
 
AWR has no material capital commitments.  ASUS actively seeks opportunities to own, lease or operate water and wastewater systems for

governmental entities, which may involve significant capital commitments.  Each of the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries has capital commitments
that are to be funded by future revenues under the contracts with the U.S. Government.

 
Regulatory Matters
 

Regulation
 
GSWC is subject to regulation by the CPUC, which has broad powers with respect to service and facilities, rates, classifications of accounts,

valuation of properties, the purchase, disposition and mortgaging of properties necessary or useful in rendering public utility service, the issuance of
securities, the granting of certificates of public convenience and necessity as to the extension of services and facilities and various other matters. CCWC and
FBWS are subject to regulation by the ACC and the TCEQ, respectively.

 
Changes in Rates
 
The CPUC has approved GSWC’s advice letter requesting rate increases in Region I. The new rates were effective June 8, 2005 and are expected to

generate annual revenues of $2.3 million.
 
On November 2, 2004, GSWC filed advice letters with the CPUC for step increases for Region II in an amount of approximately $2.8 million and

attrition increases of approximately $2.4 million for Region III that were approved and became effective January 1, 2005.
 
On July 10, 2003, the CPUC approved the Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity (“CPCN”) for construction of an 8.4 MW natural gas-

fueled generation facility on a portion of its property in the City of Big Bear Lake. The capital cost of the generating facility was approximately $13 million.
GSWC filed for increased rates in the third quarter of 2004, using a special filing called a “Major Additions Adjustment Clause” or “MAAC” filing. This
request was approved by the CPUC and the new rates became effective on April 15, 2005, which should result in an estimated annual revenue increase of
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approximately $2.7 million.  The rate increase for the generation facility is all subject to refund pending final cost review.

 
CCWC filed its rate case with the ACC in August 2004. In September 2005, the ACC approved a rate increase for CCWC. The rate increase was

effective on October 1, 2005 and is expected to generate additional annual revenues of $1.1 million, an 18% increase over current revenues.
 
Pending Rate Changes
 
In February 2005, GSWC filed an application with the CPUC for rate increases in Region III. If approved as filed, the rate increases are expected to

generate approximately $15.6 million in annual revenues starting in 2006.  In addition, rates are expected to increase by approximately $1.0 million in 2007
and 2008, respectively.  A decision on this application is expected in the fourth quarter of 2005; however, at this time management is unable to predict the
ultimate outcome of this rate case.

 
Other Regulatory Matters
 
In a CPUC decision issued on June 19, 2003 related to memorandum supply cost accounts, all water utilities regulated by the CPUC are required to

seek review of under- and over- collections by filing an advice letter annually.  GSWC filed advice letters in 2004 and 2005 with respect to its cumulative net



over-collection for Regions I and II for the period from November 29, 2001 to December 31, 2004, which has been recorded as a regulatory liability.  In
June 2005, the CPUC approved these advice letters, as filed, for the 2001, 2002 and 2003 years and as a result a $1.4 million over-collection was transferred
to the supply cost balancing accounts. The advice letters for 2004 totaling $4.2 million net over-collection were approved by the CPUC in August of 2005. 
The $4.2 million net over-collection includes approximately $3.5 million of the net proceeds received from potentially responsible parties in the Charnock
Groundwater Basin, which was recorded as a regulatory liability. The amount was transferred to the supply cost balancing accounts in August 2005. There
was no impact to earnings as these over-collections had been recorded as regulatory liabilities in prior years.

 
GSWC also filed advice letters with the CPUC for review of the activity in the Region III memorandum supply cost account for the period from

November 29, 2001 to December 31, 2004 totaling a cumulative $4.2 million under-collection. A regulatory asset with respect to this under-collection was
not recorded pending receipt of a CPUC decision authorizing the recovery of the under-collection.  In June 2005, the CPUC approved the transfer of an
approximate $1.3 million under-collection in Region III’s 2004 memorandum supply cost account into the water supply cost balancing account, income of
which was recorded in the second quarter of 2005.  The advice letters for the 2001-2003 years were approved in October 2005.  As a result, GSWC will be
allowed to recover an under-collection of $2.9 million recorded in the supply cost memorandum account between November 2001 and December 2003. This
will result in an increase to pre-tax income of $2.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2005.

 
On July 21, 2005, the CPUC authorized GSWC to collect the balance of the Aerojet litigation memorandum account of approximately $21.3 million,

through a rate surcharge, which will continue for no longer than 20 years.  As a result of this decision, GSWC, among other things, was ordered to: (i) impose
a surcharge in the Arden-Cordova customer service area to amortize the balance totaling $21.3 million in the memorandum account and consequently, GSWC
reflected an increase of approximately $6.2 million in its regulatory assets to include previously expensed carrying costs and record a corresponding gain in
its results of operations during the third quarter of 2005; (ii) restore the appropriate plant accounts by approximately $1.0 million with a corresponding
decrease in depreciation expense during the third quarter of 2005, due to the full reimbursement from Aerojet of capital expenditures, and (iii) keep the
memorandum account open until it is fully amortized. However, no costs may be added to the memorandum account, other than cumulative interest charges
approved by the decision. Furthermore, it is management’s intention to offset any settlement proceeds from Aerojet’s proposed land development,
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first against an $8 million note from Aerojet and then against the balance in the memorandum account at the time of receipt of the settlement payments.

 
Environmental Matters
 

Our subsidiaries are subject to increasingly stringent environmental regulations including the 1996 amendments to Federal Safe Drinking Water Act;
enhanced surface water treatment rules; regulation of disinfectant/disinfection by-products; and the long-term enhanced surface water treatment rules; ground
water treatment rule; contaminant regulation of radon and arsenic; and unregulated contaminants monitoring rule.

 
Additional information on these requirements and other significant environmental matters are described in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operation” included in our 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.  Construction
activities at the new treatment plant in the Calipatria-Niland customer service area were completed in the second quarter of 2005.  As a result, management
believes that all surface water plants in GSWC and CCWC are in compliance with the Enhanced Surface Water Treatment Rule which becomes effective on
June 1, 2006. Except for this matter, there have been no other material changes in any of the environmental matters discussed in the Form 10-K since
December 31, 2004.

 
Under the terms of contracts executed by the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries with the U.S. Army and U.S. Air Force, the U.S. Government

continues to be responsible for environmental contamination caused by its fault or negligence and for environmental contamination that occurred prior to
execution of the contract. In addition, each of the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries has the right to seek an equitable adjustment to its contract in the
event that there are changes in environmental laws, a change in the quality of water used in providing water service or wastewater discharged by the U.S.
Government or contamination of the air or soil not caused by the fault or negligence of the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiary. Following the end of a
transition period, one of the Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries will assume responsibility for operation and maintenance of the water and wastewater
systems at Fort Eustis, Virginia. The U.S. Government has entered into a consent order with the Department of Health of the Commonwealth of
Virginia relating to exceedances of the non-acute primary maximum contaminant level for total coliform bacteria, which appears to be due to biological
growth in the distribution system. This Military Utility Privatization Subsidiary will be undertaking a number of improvements to the water system at Fort
Eustis to address this problem. Until these improvements are completed, there may be additional exceedances of the non-acute primary maximum
contaminant level for total coliform bacteria at Fort Eustis.

 
Water Supply
 

The adequacy of our water supplies varies from year to year depending upon a variety of factors, including:
 

•                  Rainfall
•                  Availability of Colorado River water and imported water from northern California
•                  The amount of water stored in reservoirs and groundwater basins
•                  The amount of water used by our customers and others
•                  Water quality
•                  Legal limitations on use
 

Population growth and increases in the amount of water used have increased limitations on use to prevent over-drafting of groundwater basins. The
importation of water from the Colorado River, one of GSWC’s important sources of supply, is expected to decrease in future years due to the requirements of
the Central Arizona Project (“CAP”) and other limitations on the amount of water that the Metropolitan
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Water District of Southern California (“MWD”) is entitled to take from the Colorado River. MWD is expected to increase its efforts to secure additional
supplies from conservation, desalination and water exchanges with the agricultural water users.

 
CCWC obtains its water supply from operating wells and from the Colorado River through the CAP. CCWC’s water supply may be subject to

interruption or reduction if there is an interruption or reduction in CAP water. In addition, CCWC’s ability to provide water service to new real estate
developments is dependent upon CCWC’s ability to meet the requirements of the Arizona Department of Water Resources regarding its assured water supply
account.

 
The U.S. Government is responsible for supplying water under the terms of the contracts with our Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries.
 
Water shortages may affect us in a variety of ways:
 
•                  They adversely affect supply mix by causing us to rely on more expensive purchased water.
•                  They adversely affect operating costs.
•                  They may result in an increase in capital expenditures for building pipelines to connect to alternative sources of supply, new wells to replace

those that are no longer in service or are otherwise inadequate to meet the needs of customers and reservoirs and other facilities to conserve or
reclaim water.

 
We may be able to recover increased operating and construction costs for our regulated systems through the ratemaking process. We may also be

able to recover certain of these costs from third parties that may be responsible, or potentially responsible, for groundwater contamination. We may be able to
recover increased operating and construction costs for the water systems operated by our Military Utility Privatization Subsidiaries through equitable
adjustments to our contracts with the U.S. Army and Air Force.

 
Risk Factor Summary
 

The following risk factors, which are described more fully in our 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K, represent risks and uncertainties that could
cause our actual results to differ materially from our historical experience and our present expectations or projections.   There have been no significant
changes in risk factors since December 31, 2004.
 

•                  Our business is heavily regulated and, as a result, decisions by regulatory agencies and changes in laws and regulations can significantly affect our
business;

•                  Our liquidity and earnings could be adversely affected by changes in water supply costs;
•                  Our business entails a significant risk of litigation, brought on a variety of legal theories, alleging that we have caused personal injury and property

damage as a result of alleged delivery of contaminated water;
•                  Our operating costs have increased and are expected to continue to increase as a result of groundwater contamination;
•                  Environmental regulation has increased, and is expected to continue to increase our operating costs;
•                  The adequacy of our water supplies depends upon a variety of factors beyond our control described more fully in the “Management’s Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation— Water Supply” section;
•                  Our earnings are greatly affected by weather during different seasons;
•                  Our liquidity, and in certain circumstances, earnings, could be adversely affected by increases in electricity and natural gas prices in California;
•                  Our business requires significant capital expenditures; and
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•                  The expansion of our contract operations exposes us to different risks than those associated with our utility operations.
 

New Accounting Pronouncements
 

Registrant is subject to newly issued as well as changes in existing requirements issued by the Financial Accounting Standard Board. Differences in
financial reporting between periods could occur unless and until the CPUC and the ACC approve such changes for conformity through regulatory
proceedings. See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 

Registrant is exposed to certain market risks, including fluctuations in interest rates, and commodity price risk primarily relating to changes in the
market price of electricity. Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in prevailing market rates and prices.  There have been no material
changes regarding Registrant’s market risk position from the information provided in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.
The quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk are discussed in Item 7A-Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,
contained in Registrant’s 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
 
(a)  Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), we have carried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and our Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), of the
effectiveness, as of the end of the fiscal quarter covered by this report, of the design and operation of our “disclosure controls and procedures” as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, the
CEO and the CFO concluded that disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of such fiscal quarter, were adequate and effective to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.



 
(b)  Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
 

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2005 that has materially affected or
is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II

 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
 

Registrant is subject to ordinary routine litigation incidental to its business. Other than those disclosed in Registrant’s Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004, no other legal proceedings are pending, which are believed to be material. There have been no material developments in any of these
legal proceedings since the filing of this Form 10-K. Management believes that rate recovery, proper insurance coverage and reserves are in place to insure
against property, general liability and workers’ compensation claims incurred in the ordinary course of business.

 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
 

The shareholders of AWR have approved the material features of all equity compensation plans under which AWR directly issues equity securities.
AWR did not directly issue any unregistered equity securities during the third quarter of 2005.

 
The following table provides information about repurchases of common shares by AWR during the three months ended September 30, 2005:
 

Period
 

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased

 

Average Price Paid
per Share

 

Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans
or Programs(1)

 

Maximum Number
of Shares That

May Yet Be
Purchased under

the Plans or
Programs

 

July 1 – 31, 2005
 

393(2) $ 30.31
 

—
 

NA(3)
August 1 – 31, 2005

 

16,403(4) $ 29.96
 

—
 

NA(3)
September 1 – 30, 2005

 

9,213(4) $ 31.94
 

—
 

NA(3)
Total

 

26,009
 

$ 30.66
 

—
 

NA(3)
 

(1)  None of the common shares were purchased pursuant to any publicly announced stock repurchase program.
 
(2)  All of these Common Shares were acquired on the open market for new participants in the Company’s Common Share Purchase and Dividend
Reinvestment Plan.
 
(3) None of these plans contain a maximum number of common shares that may be purchased in the open market under the plans.
 
(4)  Of this amount, 15,500 and 8,500 Common Shares were acquired on the open market in August and September, respectively, for employees pursuant to
the Company’s 401(k) plan. All of the Common Shares needed to meet the requirements of this plan were purchased in the open market.  The remainder of
the Common Shares was acquired on the open market for new participants in the Company’s Common Share Purchase and Dividend Reinvestment Plan.
 
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
 

None
 

50

 
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
 

No items were submitted during the third quarter of the 2005 fiscal year covered by this report to a vote of security holders through the solicitation of
proxies or otherwise.

 
Item 5. Other Information
 

(a)  On November 7, 2005, the Board of Directors of Registrant declared a regular quarterly dividend of $0.225 per common share. The dividend will
be paid December 1, 2005 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on November 18, 2005. The Board also approved an amendment to the
Company’s Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan to provide that annual bonus payments and dividend equivalent rights be included in compensation for
purposes of determining the amount of payments under the Plan. In addition, the Board authorized the Company to make payments to Mr. Sprowls in an
amount equal to what Mr. Sprowls would be entitled to receive under the Company’s Pension Plan and Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan if
Mr. Sprowls retires prior to becoming vested in these plans.

 
On November 7, 2005, the Compensation Committee also approved a new form of Amended and Restated Change-in-Control Agreement for each of

the executive officers of Registrant which will amend and restate the current change-in-control agreements. The change in control agreements, as amended,
provide each of the executive officers with certain benefits in the event of a change in control of AWR if the executive officer’s employment is terminated
other than for cause or disability or the executive terminates employment for good reason. A change in control under these agreements will generally include
(i) any sale, lease, exchange or other change in ownership (in one or a series of transactions) of all or substantially all of the assets of AWR, unless its
business is continued by another entity in which holders of AWR’s voting securities immediately before the event own, either directly or indirectly, more than
55% of the continuing entity’s voting securities after the event, (ii) a reorganization or merger of AWR, unless the holders of AWR’s voting securities



immediately before the event own, either directly or indirectly, more than 55% of the continuing entity’s voting securities and at least a majority of the
members of the continuing entity’s board of directors were members of the incumbent Board of Directors at the time that such incumbent Board of Directors
took action on such reorganization or merger, or (iii) an acquisition by any person or group acting in concert of more than 55% of the voting securities of
AWR, unless the holders of AWR’s voting securities immediately before the event own, either directly or indirectly, more than 55% of the acquirer’s voting
securities immediately after the acquisition, (iv) the consummation of a tender offer or exchange offer by any person or group which results in that person or
group owning beneficially more than 25% of the voting securities of AWR, unless the tender offer is made by AWR or one of its subsidiaries or the tender
offer is approved by a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of AWR who were in office at the beginning of the 12 month period preceding the
tender offer, or (v) a change of one-half or more of the members of the Board of Directors, unless the election or nomination for election by shareholders of
new directors within such period constituting a majority of the applicable Board was approved by a vote of at least  2/3rds of the directors still in office who
were in office at the beginning of the 12 month period. An executive may terminate his or her employment for good reason if the executive is assigned duties
inconsistent in any respect with the executive’s position, the executive is not reappointed to such position, except as a result of death, disability or termination
for cause, or any other action which results in a diminution of such position following the change in control, the executive’s compensation is reduced or the
executive is located at an office that increases the distance from the executive’s home by more than 35 miles.

 
Under the change in control agreements, as amended, each executive will be entitled to receive an amount equal to 2.99 times the sum of (i) his or

her annual salary at the highest rate in effect during the three calendar years preceding the termination of employment, (ii) the average of the payments made
to the executive during the preceding 5 calendar years under any cash compensation plan, and (iii) the average of the amount of cash received by the
executive during the preceding 5 calendar years with respect to dividend equivalents credited to the account of the executive. In addition, each executive
officer will be entitled to a cash lump sum payment equal to the excess of (i) the single sum actuarial equivalent of what the executive’s accrued benefits
would be under the terms of the Southern California Water Company Pension Plan, or any successor plan (the “Pension Plan”) at the time of the executive’s
termination of employment, whether or not vested, if the executive were credited with 3 additional years of service and (ii) the single sum actuarial equivalent
of the executive’s benefits under the Pension Plan at the time of termination of employment.  Health and welfare benefits will also be extended for an
additional three years for the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and for an additional two years for each of the other executive officers. The
change in control agreements also provide for a gross-up payment if any executive officer is required to pay an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal
Revenue Code.

 
(b)  There have been no material changes during the third quarter of 2005 to the procedures by which shareholders may nominate persons to the

Board of Directors of AWR.
 

Item 6. Exhibits
 

(a) The following documents are filed as Exhibits to this report:
 
3.1                                 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Golden State Water Company, as amended (1)
 
10.1                           Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended (1)(2)
 
10.2                           Letter Agreement with Mr. Sprowls regarding retirement benefits (1)(2)
 
10.3                           Form of Amended and Restated Change in Control Agreement (1)(2)

31.1                           Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for AWR (1)
 
31.1.1                  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for GSWC (1)
 
31.2                           Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for AWR (1)
 
31.2.1                  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for GSWC (1)
 
32.1                           Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (3)
 
32.2                           Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (3)
 

(1)  Filed concurrently herewith.
 
(2)  Management contract or compensatory benefit plan.
 
(3)  Furnished concurrently herewith.
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SIGNATURE

 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized and as its principal financial officer.

 
 
 

AMERICAN STATES WATER COMPANY
and its subsidiary
GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY

  
  
  



By: /s/ Robert J. Sprowls
  

Robert J. Sprowls
  

Senior Vice President-Finance, Chief Financial
  

Officer Treasurer and Corporate Secretary
 
 
Dated: November 9, 2005
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Exhibit 3.1
 

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
OF

RESTATED ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
OF

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA WATER COMPANY,
A California corporation

 
Floyd E. Wicks and Robert J. Sprowls certify that:
 
1.  They are the duly elected and acting President and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President-Finance and

Secretary, respectively, of the corporation named above.
 

                2.  The Restated Articles of Incorporation of the corporation are amended by amending Article One to read as follows:
 
NAME
 
                One:  The name of the corporation is Golden State Water Company.
 
                3.  The above amendment has been approved by the Board of Directors of the corporation.
 
                4.  The above amendment was approved by the vote of the sole shareholder of the corporation in accordance with Section 902 of the California
Corporations Code; the total number of outstanding shares of each class entitled to vote with respect to the amendment was 122 Common Shares, all of which
voted in favor of the above amendment.
 
                We further declare under penalty of perjury under the law of the State of California that the matters set forth in this certificate are true and correct of
our own knowledge:
 
September 16, 2005
 

 

/s/ Floyd E. Wicks
 

Floyd E. Wicks
 

President and Chief Executive Officer
  
 

/s/ Robert J. Sprowls
 

Robert J. Sprowls
 

Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President-Finance and Secretary
 
 
 

[SEAL]
 

 
RESTATED ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

OF
SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA WATER COMPANY

(As Amended July 1, 1998)
 

Name
 

One:  The name of the corporation is SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA WATER COMPANY.
 

Purpose
 
Two:  The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a corporation may be organized under the General

Corporation Law of California other than the banking business, the trust company business or the practice of a profession permitted to be incorporated by the
California Corporation Code.

 
Authorized Shares

 
Three:  The total number of shares which the corporation is authorized to issue is 1,000 shares of Common Stock.
 

Director Liability
 
Four:  The liability of the directors of the corporation for monetary damages shall be eliminated to the fullest extent permissible under California

law.
 

Indemnification of Agents
 
Five:  The corporation is authorized to provide indemnification of agents (as defined in Section 317 of the California Corporations Code) through

bylaw provisions, agreements with agents, vote of shareholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, in excess of the indemnification otherwise permitted
by Section 317 of the California Corporations Code, subject only to the applicable limits set forth in Section 204 of the California Corporations Code with
respect to actions for breach of duty to the corporation and its shareholders.



 



Exhibit 10.1
 

FIRST AMENDMENT
TO THE

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA WATER COMPANY
PENSION RESTORATION PLAN

 
Effective as of the date set forth below, the Southern California Water Company Pension Restoration Plan (the “Plan”) is amended to provide that:
 

FIRST:                                                         With respect to Participants who retire on or after November 1, 2005, Section 4.1 is amended in its entirety to provide as follows:
 

“4.1 – Retirement Benefit.
 
                Subject to Section 4.3, a Participant’s retirement benefit under this Plan shall equal the excess of A over B where:
 
                                                A equals the Participant’s vested retirement benefit under the Pension Plan, commencing on the date benefits commence under the

Pension Plan, and payable in the form of benefit elected by the Participant (and spouse, if applicable) under the Pension Plan,
calculated by ignoring Section 401(a)(17) and 415 of the Code (and the Pension Plan provisions implementing those Code
Sections) and including in the definition of “Compensation” payments made to a Participant pursuant to any “cash pay” annual
performance incentive plan of the Company (other than any extraordinary bonus, including any holiday, year end, anniversary or
signing bonus) and dividend equivalents paid in cash to the Participant in connection with awards granted prior to 2006 under an
equity incentive plan of the Company, and

 
                                                B equals the vested retirement benefit actually payable under the Pension Plan, commencing on the date benefits commence under

the Pension Plan, and payable in the form of benefit elected by the Participant (and spouse, if applicable) under the Pension Plan.”
 

SECOND:                                         With respect to Participants who die on or after November 1, 2005, Section 4.6 is amended in its entirety to provide as follows:
 

“4.6 – Spouse Pre-Retirement Death Benefit.
 
                If a Participant’s spouse is entitled to a pre-retirement death benefit under Section 4.12 of the Pension Plan, the monthly benefit, if
any, payable upon the death of a Participant to the Participant’s spouse, commencing upon the date that monthly benefits to such spouse
commence under Section 4.12 of the Pension Plan and payable for the period of such benefit is payable under the Pension Plan, shall be
equal to the excess, if any, of:
 

 

 
                (a)           The monthly death benefit determined in accordance with Section 4.12 of the Pension Plan, calculated by ignoring
Section 401(a)(17) and 415 of the Code (and the Pension Plan provisions implementing those Code sections) and including in the definition
of “Compensation” payments made to a Participant pursuant to any “cash pay” annual performance incentive plan of the Company (other
than any extraordinary bonus, including any holiday, year end, anniversary or signing bonus) and dividend equivalents paid in cash to the
Participant in connection with awards granted under an equity incentive plan of the Company,
 
                                                                                over
 
                (b)           The amount of monthly spouse death benefit payable to the Participant’s spouse pursuant to Section 4.12 of the Pension
Plan.”

 
    

Golden State Water Company
     
     
     
Dated: November 7, 2005

   

/s/ FLOYD E. WICKS
    

President and Chief Executive Officer
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SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA WATER COMPANY
PENSION RESTORATION PLAN

 
THIS PLAN is adopted, effective the 1st day of January, 1997, by SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA WATER COMPANY, a California

corporation (“Company”), and evidences the terms of a Pension Restoration Plan for certain executives.
 

W I T N E S S E T H
 

ARTICLE I
TITLE, PURPOSE AND DEFINITIONS

1.1 - Title.
 

This plan shall be known as the “Southern California Water Company Pension Restoration Plan.”
1.2 - Purpose.
 

The purpose of this Plan is to supplement retirement benefits payable to certain participants in the Southern California Water Company
Pension Plan, as amended and in effect from time to time (“Pension Plan”) by making up benefits which are reduced by virtue of Sections 401(a)(17) or 415
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. No payment shall be made under this Plan which duplicates a benefit payable under any other deferred compensation
plan or employment agreement of the Company.

 

 
1.3 - Definitions.
 

Unless defined herein, any word, phrase or term used in this Plan with initial capitals shall have the meaning given therefor in the Pension
Plan.

 
“Company” means Southern California Water Company or any successor corporation by merger, consolidation, or otherwise.
 
“Employer” means the Company and any subsidiary or any other member of its consolidated group (for federal tax purposes) designated by

the Board of Directors to participate in the Plan.
 
“Eligible Employee” means each individual who meets each of the following requirements: (1) he or she is an officer of the Employer;

(2) he or she is a participant in the Pension Plan; (3) his or her Pension Plan benefits are reduced by the application of Sections 401(a)(17) or 415 of the Code;
and (4) he or she is designated as an Eligible Employee by the Board of Directors.

 
“Participant” means any Eligible Employee who is eligible for participation in this Plan as specified in Section 2.1.



 
“Plan” means the Southern California Water Company Pension Restoration Plan as set forth in this Agreement and all subsequent

amendments hereto.
 
“Plan Year” means the calendar year.
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ARTICLE II

PARTICIPATION
2.1 - Eligibility Requirements.
 

An Employee who is an Eligible Employee shall become a Participant on the later of the date he or she becomes vested under the Pension
Plan or becomes an Eligible Employee.

 
ARTICLE III

PAYMENT OF BENEFITS
 

3.1 - Payment.
 

There shall be no funding of any benefit which may become payable hereunder. The Company may, but is not obligated to, invest in any
assets or in life insurance policies which it deems desirable to provide assets for payments under this Plan but all such assets or life insurance policies shall
remain the general assets of the Company. In connection with any such investments and as a condition of further participation in this Plan, Participants shall
execute any documentation reasonably requested by the Company.

 
ARTICLE IV

RETIREMENT BENEFITS
                4.1 - Retirement Benefit.
 
Subject to Section 4.3, a Participant’s retirement benefit under this Plan shall equal the excess of A over B where:
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A equals the Participant’s vested retirement benefit under the Pension Plan, commencing on the date benefits commence under the Pension
Plan, and payable in form of benefit elected by the Participant (and spouse, if applicable) under the Pension Plan, calculated by ignoring
Sections 401(a)(17) and 415 of the Code (and the Pension Plan provisions implementing those Code sections), and
 
B equals the vested retirement benefit actually payable under the Pension Plan, commencing on the date benefits commence under the
Pension Plan, and payable in form of benefit elected by the Participant (and spouse, if applicable) under the Pension Plan.
 

4.2 - Benefit Limitation.
 

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan, in the event that any benefit provided under this agreement would, in the opinion of
counsel for the Company, not be deductible in whole or in part in the calculation of the federal income tax of the Company by reason of Section 280G of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), the aggregate benefits provided hereunder shall be reduced so that no portion of any amount which is paid to the
Participant or Beneficiary is not deductible for tax purposes by reason of Section 280G of the Code.
 
4.3 - Payment of Retirement Benefits.
 

Upon a Participant’s commencement of benefits under the Pension Plan, the Employer shall commence to pay to such retired Participant (or
beneficiary, if applicable, after the Participant’s death) the monthly retirement benefit to which the Participant is entitled under
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this Plan, commencing on the date benefits commence under the Pension Plan, and payable in form of benefit elected by the Participant (and spouse, if
applicable) under the Pension Plan. No benefits shall be payable under this Plan while the Participant is an Employee.
 
4.4 - Small Benefit.
 

Notwithstanding any other provision or provisions of this Plan to the contrary, if any benefit hereunder is for an amount of less than fifty
dollars per month, such benefit shall instead be paid in a lump sum which is the Actuarial Equivalent of such monthly benefit.

 
4.5 - Forfeiture of Benefits.
 

Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, no benefits shall be payable under this Plan with respect to any Participant if the
Participant confesses to, is convicted of, or pleads no contest to, any act of fraud, theft or dishonesty arising in the course of, or in connection with, his or her
employment with the Employer.

 
4.6 - Spouse Pre-Retirement Death Benefit.

 



If a Participant’s spouse is entitled to a pre-retirement death benefit under Section 4.12 of the Pension Plan, the monthly benefit, if any,
payable upon the death of a Participant to the Participant’s spouse, commencing upon the date that monthly benefits to such spouse commence under Section
4.12 of the Pension Plan and payable for the period such benefit is payable under the Pension Plan, shall be equal to the excess, if any, of:
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(a)           The monthly death benefit determined in accordance with Section 4.12 of the Pension Plan, calculated by ignoring Sections 401(a)
(17) and 415 of the Code (and the Pension Plan provisions implementing those Code sections),
 

over
 

(b)           The amount of the monthly spouse death benefit payable to the Participant’s spouse pursuant to Section 4.12 of the Pension Plan.
 

No benefits under this Section 4.7 shall be paid if the benefits payable pursuant to any other provisions of this Article IV have already commenced.
 

ARTICLE V
COMMITTEE

 
5.1 - Committee.
 

This Plan shall be administered by the Committee. The Committee shall have the authority to (i) make, amend, interpret, and enforce all
appropriate rules and regulations for the administration of this Plan and (ii) decide or resolve any and all questions, including interpretations and constructions
of this Plan as may arise in connection with the Plan. The Committee shall also have all rights and duties set forth in Section 6.3 of the Pension Plan. The
Committee shall have full discretion to construe and interpret the terms and provisions of this Plan. The Committee members may be Participants under this
Plan.
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5.2 - Agents.
 

The Committee may, from time to time, employ other agents and delegate to them such administrative duties as it sees fit, and may from
time to time consult with counsel who may be counsel to the Company.

 
5.3 - Binding Effect of Decisions.
 

The decision or action of the Committee in respect of any questions arising out of or in connection with the administration, interpretation
and application of the Plan and the rules and regulations promulgated hereunder shall be final and conclusive and binding upon all persons having any interest
in the Plan.
 
5.4 - Indemnity.
 

To the extent permitted by applicable federal and state laws the Company shall indemnify and save harmless the Board of Directors, the
Committee and each member of each thereof, and any employee appointed pursuant to Section 5.2, against any and all expenses, liabilities and claims,
including legal fees to defend against such liabilities and claims, arising out of their discharge in good faith of responsibilities under or incident to the Plan,
excepting only expenses and liabilities arising out of willful misconduct or gross negligence. This indemnity shall not preclude such further indemnities as
may be available under insurance purchased by the Company or provided by the Company under any Bylaw, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested
directors or otherwise, as such indemnities are permitted under state law.
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5.5 - Claim Procedure.
 

The entire claim procedure set forth in Section 6.3(g) of the Pension Plan, as amended from time to time, is hereby incorporated by
reference.

 
ARTICLE VI

AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION
 

6.1 - Amendments and Termination.
 

The Company shall have the right to amend this Plan (and to amend or cancel any amendments) from time to time by resolution of the
Board of Directors. Such amendment shall be stated in an instrument in writing, executed by the Company in the same manner as this Plan. The Company
also reserves the right to terminate this Plan at any time by resolution of the Board of Directors.

 
6.2 - Protection of Accrued Benefits.

 
This Plan is strictly a voluntary undertaking on the part of the Company and shall not be deemed to constitute a contract between the

Company and any Eligible Employee (or any other employee) or a consideration for, or an inducement or condition of employment for the performance of
services by any Eligible Employee or employee. Although the Company reserves the right to amend or terminate this Plan at any time and, subject at all times



to the provisions of Section 4.3, no such amendment or termination shall result in the forfeiture of benefits accrued pursuant to this Plan as of the date of
termination. The benefits accrued at that time shall be the lesser of (1) the
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benefit that would be payable if the Participant terminated employment on the date of termination, or (2) the benefit that would be payable at actual retirement
under the Pension Plan (or death, if earlier) if this Plan were terminated.

 
ARTICLE VII

MISCELLANEOUS
 

7.1 - Unfunded Plan.
 

All benefits due under this Plan to a Participant shall be paid by the Employer that employed that Participant. This Plan is intended to be an
unfunded plan maintained primarily to provide deferred compensation benefits for a select group of “management or highly compensated employees” within
the meaning of Section 201, 301 and 401 of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), and therefore to be exempt from
the provisions of Parts 2, 3 and 4 of Title I of ERISA.

 
7.2 - Unsecured General Creditor.
 

In the event of an Employer’s insolvency, Participants and their Beneficiaries, heirs, successors and assigns shall have no legal or equitable
rights, interest or claims in any property or assets of Employer, nor shall they be beneficiaries of, or have any rights, claims or interest in any life insurance
policies, annuity contracts or the proceeds therefrom owned or which may be acquired by Employer. In that event, any and all of Employer’s assets and
policies shall be, and remain, unrestricted by the provisions of this Plan. An Employer’s obligation under the Plan shall be that of an unfunded and unsecured
promise of Employer to pay money in the future.
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7.3 - Trust Fund.
 

Each Employer shall be responsible for the payment of all benefits provided under the Plan to Participants employed by it. At its discretion,
the Company may establish one or more trusts, with such trustees as the Board may approve, for the purpose of providing for the payment of such benefits.
Such trust or trusts may be irrevocable, but the assets thereof shall be subject to the claims of the Company’s creditors. To the extent any benefits provided
under the Plan are actually paid from any such trust, the Employer shall have no further obligation with respect thereto, but to the extent not so paid, such
benefits shall remain the obligation of, and shall be paid by, the Employer.

 
7.4 - Nonassignability.
 

None of the benefits, payments, proceeds or claims of any Participant or Beneficiary shall be subject to any claim of any creditor and, in
particular, the same shall not be subject to attachment or garnishment or other legal process by any creditor, nor shall any Participant or Beneficiary have any
right to alienate, anticipate, commute, pledge, encumber or assign any of the benefits or payments or proceeds which he may expect to receive, contingently
or otherwise, under this agreement.

 
7.5 - Limitation on Participants’ Rights.
 

Participation in this Plan shall not give any Eligible Employee the right to be retained in the Employer’s employ or any right or interest in
the Plan other than as herein
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provided. The Employer reserves the right to dismiss any Eligible Employee without any liability for any claim against the Employer, except to the extent
provided herein.

 
7.6 - Participants Bound.
 

Any action with respect to this Plan taken by the Committee or by the Company, or any action authorized by or taken at the direction of the
Committee or the Company, shall be conclusive upon all Participants and Beneficiaries entitled to benefits under the Plan.
 
7.7 - Receipt and Release.
 

Any payment to any Participant or Beneficiary in accordance with the provisions of this Plan shall, to the extent thereof, be in full
satisfaction of all claims against the Employer and the Committee, and the Committee may require such Participant or Beneficiary, as a condition precedent to
such payment, to execute a receipt and release to such effect. If any Participant or Beneficiary is determined by the Committee to be incompetent by reason of
physical or mental disability (including minority) to give a valid receipt and release, the Committee may cause the payment or payments becoming due to
such person to be made to another person for his or her benefit without responsibility on the part of the Committee or the Company to follow the application
of such funds.

 
7.8 - Federal Law Governs.
 



This Plan shall be construed, administered, and governed in all respects under federal law (except as otherwise provided by Section 5.4),
and to the extent that federal law is inapplicable, under the laws of the State of California, provided, however, that if any provision is susceptible to more than
one interpretation, such interpretation shall be given thereto as
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consistent with this Plan being an unfunded plan described in Section 7.1. If any provision shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or
unenforceable, the remaining provisions hereof shall continue to be fully effective.

 
7.9 - Headings and Subheadings.
 

Headings and subheadings in this agreement are inserted for convenience of records only and are not to be considered in the construction of
the provisions hereof.

 
7.10 - Successors and Assigns.
 

This agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the parties hereto and their successors and assigns.
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Exhibit 10.2
 
November 7, 2005
 
 
 
Mr. Robert Sprowls
Golden State Water Company
630 East Foothill Blvd.
San Dimas, California 91773
 
Dear Mr. Sprowls:
 
This letter is to confirm the decision made by the Golden State Water Company Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) regarding your retirement
benefits at its meeting on January 31, 2005.  If you terminate employment with the Golden State Water Company (the “Company”) prior to becoming vested
under the Southern California Water Company Pension Plan (the “Pension Plan”) and/or prior to becoming eligible for a benefit under the Southern California
Water Company Pension Restoration Plan (the “SERP”), the Company shall nevertheless pay to you, out of its general assets, a benefit equal to the aggregate
benefit that would have been payable to you under the Pension Plan and the SERP if you were fully vested under both the Pension Plan and SERP.  This
benefit shall be payable in accordance with the terms of the SERP, including the offset for any benefits payable under the Pension Plan, and shall be subject to
and governed by all of the provisions, limitations, restrictions, and claims procedures of the SERP.
 
Nothing herein shall be considered a guarantee of employment or entitle you to any benefits other than those specifically described above.
 
If this is your understanding, please sign and return this letter to me.
 
Sincerely,
 
/s/ Floyd E. Wicks

 

Floyd E. Wicks
President and Chief Executive Officer
 
 
 
Agreed to by:
 
/s/ Robert J. Sprowls

 

Robert J. Sprowls
 

 



Exhibit 10.3
 

[FORM OF AMENDED AND RESTATED CHANGE-IN-CONTROL AGREEMENT]
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED CHANGE-IN-CONTROL AGREEMENT
 

This Amended and Restated Change-in-Control Agreement (the “Agreement”) is dated as of [   ], is entered into by and between [     ] (the
“Executive”) and [Golden State Water Company, a California corporation][American States Utility Services, Inc., a California corporation][NEEDS TO BE
CHANGED TO BE SIGNED BY ACTUAL EMPLOYER] (the “Company”), and amends and restates in its entirety the Change-in-Control Agreement dated
as of [   ] between the Executive and the Company.

 
RECITALS

 
The Company considers it essential to the best interest of the Company and its shareholders that the Executive be encouraged to remain with the

Company and continue to devote full attention to the Company’s business notwithstanding the possibility, threat or occurrence of a Change in Control (as
defined in Section 3).  The Company believes that it is in the best interest of the Company, its shareholder and the shareholders of its parent, American States
Water Company, a California corporation (“AWR”), to reinforce and encourage the continued attention and dedication of the Executive and to diminish
inevitable distractions arising from the possibility of a Change in Control.  Accordingly, to assure the Company that it will have the Executive’s undivided
attention and services notwithstanding the possibility, threat or occurrence of a Change in Control, and to induce the Executive to remain in the employ of the
Company, and for other good and valuable consideration, the Board of Directors of the Company has, at the recommendation of the Company’s
Compensation Committee, caused the Company to enter into this Agreement.

 

 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS

 
The Executive and the Company hereby agree to the following terms and conditions:
 

1.     Term of Agreement
 

If a Change in Control (as defined in Section 3) occurs on or before the expiration date of this Agreement and while the Executive is still an
employee of the Company, then this Agreement will continue in effect for two years from the date of such Change in Control and, if the Executive’s
employment with the Company is terminated within such two-year period, this Agreement shall thereafter continue in effect until all of the obligations of the
Company under this Agreement shall have been fulfilled.  If no Change in Control occurs on or before December 31,  2010, this Agreement shall expire;
provided, however that this Agreement shall be automatically extended for an additional two years to December 31, 2012 if (i) a plan or agreement for a
Change in Control has been approved by the Board of Directors of AWR, on or before the expiration date, or (ii)  the Company has not delivered to you or
you shall have not delivered to the Company written notice at least 60 days prior to the expiration date that such expiration date shall not be so extended. 
This Agreement shall continue to be automatically extended for an additional two-year period and each succeeding two-year period if a plan or agreement for
a Change in Control has been approved by the Board of Directors of AWR, or the Company or the Executive fails to give notice by the time and in the
manner described in this Section 1.

 
2.     Change in Control Date
 

The “Change in Control Date” shall mean the first date during the term of this Agreement on which a Change in Control (as defined in
Section 3) occurs; provided, however,
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that if a Change in Control occurs and if the Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated after approval by the Board of Directors of AWR of a
plan or agreement for a Change in Control but prior to the date on which the Change in Control occurs, the “Change in Control Date” shall mean the date
immediately preceding the date of such termination.

 
3.     Change in Control
 

A “Change in Control” shall mean any of the following events:
 
(a)   any sale, lease, exchange or other change in ownership (in one or a series of transactions) of all or substantially all of the assets of

AWR, unless its business is continued by another entity in which holders of AWR’s voting securities immediately before the event own, either directly or
indirectly, more than fifty-five percent (55%) of the continuing entity’s voting securities immediately after the event;

 
(b)   any reorganization or merger of AWR, unless the holders of AWR’s voting securities immediately before the event own, either directly

or indirectly, more than fifty-five percent (55%) of the continuing or surviving entity’s voting securities immediately after the event, and (ii) at least a
majority of the members of the Board of Directors of the surviving entity resulting from such reorganization or merger were members of the incumbent Board
of Directors of AWR at the time of the execution of the initial agreement or of the action of such incumbent Board of Directors providing for such
reorganization or merger;

 
(c)   an acquisition by any person, entity or group acting in concert of more than fifty-five percent (55%) of the voting securities of AWR,

unless the holders of AWR’s voting securities immediately before the event own, either directly or indirectly, more than fifty-five percent (55%) of the
acquirer’s voting securities immediately after the acquisition;
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(d)   the consummation of a tender offer or exchange offer by any individual, entity or group which results in such individual, entity or

group beneficially owning (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 twenty-five percent (25%) or more of
the voting securities of AWR, unless the tender offer is made by AWR or any of its subsidiaries or the tender offer is approved by a majority of the members
of the Board of Directors of AWR who were in office at the beginning of the twelve month period preceding the commencement of the tender offer; or

 
(e)   a change of one-half or more of the members of the Board of Directors of AWR within a twelve-month period, unless the election or

nomination for election by shareholders of new directors within such period constituting a majority of the applicable Board was approved by a vote of at least
two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then still in office who were in office at the beginning of the twelve month period.

 
4.     Effective Period
 

For the purpose of this Agreement, the “Effective Period” is the period commencing on the Change in Control Date and ending on the date
this Agreement terminates.

 
5.     Termination of Employment
 

(a)   Death or Disability:  The Executive’s employment shall terminate automatically upon the Executive’s death.  If the Disability (as
defined below) of the Executive occurs during the Effective Period, the Company may give the Executive written notice of its intention to terminate the
Executive’s employment.  In such event, the Executive’s employment with the Company shall terminate effective on the 30th day after receipt of such notice
by the Executive (the “Disability Effective Date”), provided that, within the 30 days after such receipt, the Executive shall not have returned to full-time
performance of his or her duties.  For purposes
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of this Agreement, “Disability” shall mean the absence of the Executive from his or her duties with the Company on a full-time basis for 180 consecutive
business days as a result of a physical or mental condition which prevents the Executive from performing the Executive’s normal duties of employment and
which is (i) determined to be total and permanent by a physician selected by the Company or its insurers and acceptable to the Executive or the Executive’s
legal representative and/or (ii) entitles the Executive to the payment of long-term disability benefits from the Company’s or AWR’s long-term disability plan
commencing no later than the Disability Effective Date.

 
(b)   Cause:  The Company may terminate the Executive’s employment other than for Cause or Disability during the Effective Period. The

Company may also terminate the Executive’s employment during the Effective Period for Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall be limited to
the following:

 
(i)            the Executive’s failure to render services to the Company where such failure amounts to gross neglect or gross

misconduct of the Executive’s responsibility and duties,
 
(ii)           the Executive’s commission of an act of fraud or dishonesty against the Company or any affiliate of the Company, or
 
(iii)          the Executive’s conviction of a felony or other crime involving moral turpitude.
 

(c)   Good Reason:  The Executive’s employment may be terminated by the Executive during the Effective Period for Good Reason.  For
purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean:
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(i)            the assignment to the Executive of any duties inconsistent in any respect with the Executive’s position (including status,

offices, titles and reporting requirements), authority, duties or responsibilities as in effect on the Change in Control Date, or any other action
by the Company or AWR which results in a diminution in such position, authority, duties or responsibilities, excluding for this purpose an
isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and which is remedied by the Company or AWR, as applicable,
promptly, but in no event more than thirty (30) days after receipt of notice thereof given by the Executive;

 
(ii)           any failure by the Company or AWR to reappoint the Executive to a position held by the Executive on the Change in

Control Date, except as a result of the termination of the Executive’s employment by the Company for Cause or Disability, the death of the
Executive, or the termination of the Executive’s employment by the Executive other than for Good Reason;

 
(iii)          reduction by the Company or AWR in the Executive’s base salary in effect on the date hereof or as the same may be

increased from time-to-time;
 
(iv)          elimination by the Company or AWR of any cash incentive or other cash bonus compensation plan, without providing

substitutes therefor, or any modification of the terms thereof that would substantially diminish (in the aggregate, taking into consideration
changes in salary, etc.) the aggregate amount of the base salary and cash incentive or other cash bonus that is reasonably expected to be
earned by the Executive during any calendar year from the aggregate amount that would reasonably have been expected to be earned by the
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Executive, assuming the maintenance of the cash incentive or cash bonus compensation plan or plans in effect on the Change in Control
Date;

 



(v)           the taking of any action by the Company or AWR (including the elimination of benefit plans without providing
substitutes therefor or the reduction of the Executive’s benefits thereunder) that would substantially diminish the aggregate value of the
Executive’s other fringe benefits, including the executive benefits and perquisites, from the levels in effect prior to the Change in Control
Date;

 
(vi)          the Company or AWR provide written notice to the Executive that the Executive will be based at any office or location

which increases the distance from the Executive’s home to the office location by more than 35 miles from the distance in effect as of the
Change in Control Date; and

 
(vii)         any failure by the Company or AWR to comply with and satisfy Section 11(c) of this Agreement.
 

6.     Obligations of the Company upon Termination
 

(a)   Good Reason, Other Than for Cause or Disability:  If the Company shall terminate the Executive’s employment other than for Cause or
Disability during the Effective Period, or the Executive shall terminate employment for Good Reason during the Effective Period, the Company and AWR
agree, subject to Section 8, to make the payments and provide the benefits described below:

 
(i)            The Company or AWR shall pay to the Executive in a cash lump sum within 10 days from the date of the later of the

Change in Control Date or the termination of the Executive’s employment, an amount equal to the product of
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(A) and (B), where (A) is 2.99 and (B) is calculated as the sum of (i) the Executive’s annual base salary at the highest rate in effect in any
year of the three calendar years immediately preceding the date of termination of employment; plus (ii) the average of the payments made
to the Executive pursuant to any “cash-pay” performance incentive plan of the Company or AWR (a “Cash Incentive Payment”) during the
five calendars years immediately preceding the date of termination of employment (or, in the event that an Executive has less than five
calendar years of credited service, the sum of the Executive’s Cash Incentive Payments during the number of calendar years of such
Executive’s employment with AWR or any of its subsidiaries divided by the number of calendar years of such Executive’s employment with
AWR or any of its subsidiaries); and provided that if Executive is employed pursuant to any written employment agreement, the Cash
Incentive Payment in any year for purposes of calculations under this clause (ii) shall not be less than any minimum incentive or annual
cash bonus required thereunder; provided that Cash Incentive Payments do not include (A) any extraordinary bonus, including any holiday,
year end, anniversary or signing bonus; (B) any amounts paid or to be paid to the Executive under this Agreement, (C) reimbursement of
moving or other expenses; or (D) any other lump sum payment, unless specifically designated as a Cash Incentive Payment pursuant to an
incentive plan of the Company or AWR by the Board of Directors of AWR or the Company, or any committee thereof; plus (iii) the average
of the amount of cash received by the Executive with respect to dividend equivalents credited to the account of the Executive (“Dividend
Equivalents”) during the five calendar
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years immediately preceding the date of termination of employment (or, in the event that an Executive has less than five calendar years of
credited service or any such year did not include Dividend Equivalent payments, the sum of the Dividend Equivalents during the number of
calendar years of such Executive’s employment with AWR or any of its subsidiaries divided by the number of calendar years of such
Executive’s employment with AWR or any of its subsidiaries and in which Dividend Equivalents were paid). Unless otherwise provided
pursuant to the terms of the cash incentive compensation plan of AWR or the Company or the terms of the award, the amount paid to the
Executive pursuant to this Section 6(a)(i) shall be in lieu of any Cash Incentive Payment to which the Executive would otherwise be entitled
under any cash incentive plan of the Company or AWR for the year in which the Executive’s employment is terminated as a result of a
Change in Control.

 
(ii)           The Company or AWR shall also pay to the Executive in a cash lump sum within 10 days from the later of the Change in

Control Date or the date of termination of employment, an amount equal to the sum of (A) the Executive’s base salary through the date of
termination, plus (B) any compensation previously deferred by the Executive (together with any accrued earnings or interest thereon), plus
(C) any accrued vacation pay), in each case to the extent not theretofore paid (the amounts referred to in this paragraph (ii) are hereinafter
referred to as the “Accrued Obligations”).

 
(iii)          The Company or AWR shall also pay to the Executive in a cash lump sum within 10 days from the later of the Change in

Control Date or the date
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of termination of employment, an amount equal to the excess of (A) over (B), where (A) is equal to the single sum actuarial equivalent of
what would be the Executive’s accrued benefits under the terms of the Southern California Water Company Pension Plan, or any successor
thereto, including any supplemental retirement plan providing pension benefits (hereinafter together referred to as the “Pension Plan”) at the
time of the Executive’s termination of employment, without regard to whether such benefits would be vested thereunder, if the Executive
were credited with an additional three years of credited service (as defined in the Pension Plan), and (B) is equal to the single sum actuarial
equivalent of the Executive’s vested accrued benefits under the Pension Plan at the time of the Executive’s termination of employment.  For
purposes of this paragraph (iii), the term “single sum actuarial equivalent” shall be determined using an interest rate equal to six percent
(6%) and the mortality table named and described in detail in Section A.1 of the Pension Plan after the reduction (if any) of the Executive’s
benefit using the “Regular Factors” under Section A.4 of the Pension Plan and using the Executive’s age upon termination of the
Executive’s employment. Any payment under this paragraph (iii) shall not extinguish any rights the Executive has to benefits under the
Pension Plan.



 
(iv)          For [three years for CEO and CFO]  two years after the Executive’s date of termination, or such longer period as may be

provided by the terms of the appropriate plan, program, practice or policy, the Company shall continue to provide welfare benefits and
fringe benefits and other perquisites to the Executive and/or the Executive’s family at least equal to those which would
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have been provided to them if the Executive’s employment had not been terminated (in accordance with the most favorable plans, practices,
programs or policies of the Company and its affiliates applicable generally to other peer executives and their families immediately
preceding the date of the Executive’s termination of employment); provided, however, that if the Executive becomes employed by another
employer and is eligible to receive medical or other welfare benefits under another employer-provided plan, the medical and other welfare
benefits described herein shall be secondary to those provided under such other plan during such applicable period of eligibility.  For
purposes of determining eligibility (but not the time of commencement of benefits) of the Executive for any retiree benefits pursuant to such
plans, practices, programs and policies, the Executive shall be considered to have remained employed until [three years for CEO and CFO]
two years after the date of termination of employment and to have retired on the last day of such period.  Following the period of continued
benefits referred to in this subsection, the Executive and the Executive’s family shall be given the right provided in Section 4980B of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) to elect to continue benefits in all group medical plans.  In the event that the Executive’s
participation in any of the plans, programs, practices or policies of the Company referred to in this subsection is barred by the terms of such
plans, programs, practices or policies, the Company shall provide the Executive with benefits substantially similar to those which the
Executive would be entitled as a participant in such plans, programs, practices or policies.  At the end of the period of coverage, the
Executive shall have the option to have
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assigned to the Executive, at no cost and with no apportionment of prepaid premiums, any assignable insurance policy owned by the
Company and relating specifically to the Executive.

 
(v)           The Company and AWR shall enable the Executive to purchase within 10 days following the later of the Change in

Control Date or the termination of employment, the automobile, if any, provided by the Company for the Executive’s use at the time of the
Executive’s termination of employment at the wholesale value of such automobile at such time, as shown in the current edition of the
National Auto Research Publication Blue Book.

 
(vi)          To the extent not theretofore paid or provided, the Company or AWR shall timely pay or provide the Executive any other

amounts or benefits required to be paid or provided or which the Executive is eligible to receive under any plan, program, policy, practice,
contract or agreement of the Company and its affiliates (such other amounts and benefits being hereinafter referred to as “Other Benefits”)
in accordance with the terms of such plan, program, policy, practice, contract or agreement.

 
(vii)         The Executive shall be entitled to interest on any payments not paid on a timely basis as provided in this Section 6(a) at

the applicable Federal Rate provided for in Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code.
 
(viii)        Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, each stock option granted to an Executive under any stock incentive plan of

AWR or the Company shall become immediately exercisable, and each restricted stock award under any stock incentive plan of AWR or the
Company shall immediately vest free of
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restrictions, unless the Executive refuses any such acceleration in writing. If the vesting of any stock option or restricted stock award has
been accelerated expressly in anticipation of a Change in Control and the Board of Directors later determines that a Change in Control will
not occur, the effect of the acceleration as to any then outstanding and unexercised stock option or restricted stock award shall be rescinded.
In no event shall any such stock option or restricted stock award be reinstated or extended beyond its final expiration date.

 
(b)           Death:  If the Executive’s employment is terminated by reason of the Executive’s death during the Effective Period, this

Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive’s legal representatives under this Agreement, other than for payment of Accrued
Obligations and the timely payment or provision of Other Benefits.  Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the Executive’s estate or beneficiary, as applicable,
in a cash lump sum within 10 days of the date of the Executive’s death.

 
(c)           Disability:  If the Executive’s employment is terminated by reason of the Executive’s Disability during the Effective Period, this

Agreement shall terminate without further obligations to the Executive, other than for payment of Accrued Obligations and the timely payment or provision
of Other Benefits. Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the Executive in a cash lump sum within 30 days of the Executive’s termination of employment.

 
(d)           Cause, Other than for Good Reason:  If the Executive’s employment shall be terminated for Cause during the Effective Period or,

if the Executive voluntarily terminates employment during the Effective Period, excluding a termination for Good Reason, this Agreement shall terminate
without further obligations to the Executive, other than for Accrued
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Obligations and any benefits payable to Executive under a plan, policy, practice, etc., referred to in Section 7 below.  Accrued Obligations shall be paid to the
Executive in a cash lump sum within 60 days of the Executive’s termination of employment.



 
7.     Non-Exclusivity of Rights
 

Subject to Section 8, nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit the Executive’s continuing or future participation in any plan,
program, policy or practice provided by the Company or any of its affiliates and for which the Executive may qualify, nor, subject to Sections 8 and 20, shall
anything herein limit or otherwise affect such rights as the Executive may have under any contract or agreement with the Company or any of its affiliates.
Amounts which are vested benefits or which the Executive is otherwise entitled to receive under any plan, policy, practice, program, contract or agreement
with the Company or any of its affiliates at or subsequent to the date of termination of the Executive’s employment shall be payable in accordance with such
plan, policy, practice, program, contract or agreement except as explicitly modified by this Agreement.

 
8.     Limitation on Benefits
 

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if any payments or benefits to be made to or for the Executive’s benefit,
whether pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise, whether by the Company or another entity or person, would not be deductible by the Company due to
limitations imposed by Section 162(m) of the Code, then such payments or benefits shall be deferred to the extent necessary until such time as such payments
would be deductible under Section 162(m) of the Code.  Either the Company or the Executive may request a determination as to whether any payments would
be subject to limitations on deductibility under Section 162(m) of the Code and, of so requested, such determination shall be made by
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independent legal counsel selected by the Company and approved by the Executive.  Payment may be delayed pending any such determination, provided that
the Executive shall be entitled to interest on any delayed payment at the applicable Federal Rate provided for in Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code. The
Executive shall also be entitled to interest on any payments deferred as a result of the limitations on deductibility under Section 162(m) of the Code at the
applicable Federal Rate provided for in Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code.

 
9.     Parachute Payments
 

(a)   Gross-Up Payment.  In the event that any payment or distribution by the Company to or for the benefit of the Executive (whether paid
or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or otherwise, but determined without regard to any additional payments
under this Section 9(a)) (a “Payment”) is determined to be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code, or any interest or penalties are
incurred by the Executive with respect to such excise tax (such excise tax, together with any such interest and penalties, are hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “Excise Tax”), then the Company shall pay promptly to the Executive an additional payment (a “Gross-Up Payment”) in an amount such that after
payment by Executive of all taxes (including any interest or penalties imposed with respect thereto) and Excise Tax imposed upon the Gross-Up Payment,
Executive retains an amount of the Gross-Up Payment equal to the Excise Tax imposed upon such Payments.

 
(b)   Accounting Firm.  Subject to the provisions of Section 9(c), all determinations required to be made under this Section 9, including

whether and when a Gross-Up Payment is required and the amount of such Gross-Up Payment and the assumptions to be utilized in arriving at such
determination, shall be made by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or, if that firm declines the engagement, such other certified public accounting firm as may be
designated by
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Executive and which is satisfactory to the Company (the “Accounting Firm”), which shall provide detailed supporting calculations both to the Company and
to Executive within 15 business days after such determinations are requested by Executive or the Company.  All fees and expenses of the Accounting Firm
shall be borne solely by the Company.  The Company shall pay any Gross-Up Payment, as determined pursuant to this Section 9(b), to Executive within 5
days after the receipt by the Company of the Accounting Firm’s determination.  As a result of the uncertainty in the application of Section 4999 of the Code at
the time of the initial determination by the Accounting Firm hereunder, it is possible that Gross-Up Payments which will not have been made by the Company
should have been made (an “Underpayment”), consistent with the calculations required to be made hereunder.  In the event that the Company exhausts its
remedies pursuant to Section 9(c) and Executive thereafter is required to make a payment of any Excise Tax, the Accounting Firm shall determine the amount
of the Underpayment that has occurred and the Company shall pay such Underpayment promptly to or for the benefit of Executive.

 
(c)   Internal Revenue Service Claims.  Executive shall notify the Company in writing of any claim by the Internal Revenue Service that, if

successful, would require the payment by the Company of a Gross-Up Payment.  Such notification shall be given as soon as practicable but no later than 10
business days after Executive is informed in writing of such claims and shall apprise the Company of the nature of such claim, and the date on which such
claim is requested to be paid.  Executive shall not pay such claim prior to the expiration of the 30-day period following the date on which it gives such notice
to the Company (or such shorter period ending on the date that any payment of taxes with respect to such claim is due).  If the Company notifies Executive in
writing prior to the expiration of such period that it desires to contest such claim, Executive shall:
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(i)            Give the Company any information reasonably requested by either of them relating to such claim,
 
(ii)           Take such action in connection with contesting such claim as the Company shall reasonably request in writing from time

to time, including, without limitation, accepting legal representation with respect to such claim by an attorney reasonably selected by the
Company,

 
(iii)          Cooperate with the Company in good faith in order to contest such claim effectively, and
 
(iv)          Permit the Company to participate in any proceedings relating to such claim;
 



provided, however, that the Company shall bear and pay directly all costs and expenses (including additional interest and penalties) incurred in connection
with such contest and shall indemnify and hold the Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, for any Excise Tax or income tax (including interest and
penalties with respect thereto) imposed as a result of such representation and payment of costs and expenses.  Without limitation on the foregoing provisions
of this Section 9(c), the Company shall control all proceedings taken in connection with such contests and, at its sole discretion, may pursue or forgo any and
all administrative appeals, proceedings, hearings and conferences with the taxing authority in respect of such claim and may, at its sole option, either direct
Executive to pay the tax claimed and sue for a refund or contest the claim in any permissible manner, and Executive agrees to prosecute such contest to a
determination before any administrative tribunal, in a court of initial jurisdiction and in one or more appellate courts, as the Company shall determine;
provided, however that if the Company directs Executive to pay such claim and sue for a refund, the Company shall pay the amount of
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such payment to Executive, and shall indemnify and hold Executive harmless, on an after-tax basis, from any Excise Tax or income tax (including interest or
penalties with respect thereto) imposed with respect to such payment or with respect to any imputed income with respect to such payment; and further
provided that any extension of the statute of limitations relating to payment of taxes for the taxable year of Executive with respect to which such contested
amount is claimed to be due is limited solely to such contested amount.  Furthermore, the control by the Company of the contest shall be limited to issues
with respect to which the Gross-Up Payment would be payable hereunder and Executive shall be entitled to settle or contest, as the case may be, any other
issue raised by the Internal Revenue Service or any other taxing authority.
 

(d)   Refunds. If, after the receipt by Executive of an amount paid by the Company pursuant to Section 9(c), Executive becomes entitled to
receive any refund with respect to such claim, Executive shall (subject to compliance by the Company with the requirements of Section 9(c)) promptly pay to
the Company the amount of such refund (together with any interest paid or credited thereon after taxes applicable thereto).  If, after the receipt by Executive
of an amount paid by the Company pursuant to Section 9(c), a determination is made that Executive shall not be entitled to any refund with respect to such
claim and the Company does not notify Executive in writing of its intent to contest such denial of refund prior to the expiration of 30 days after such
determination, then such advance shall be forgiven and shall not be required to be repaid and the amount of such payment shall offset, to the extent thereof,
the amount of Gross-Up Payment required to be paid.

 
10.  Full Settlement
 

The obligation of the Company to make the payments provided for in this Agreement and otherwise to perform its obligations hereunder
shall not be affected by any
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set-off, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other claim, right or action which the Company may have against the Executive or others. In no event shall the
Executive be obligated to seek other employment or take any other action by way of mitigation of the amounts payable to the Executive under any of the
provisions of this Agreement and, except as provided in Section 6(a)(iv), such amounts shall not be reduced whether or not Executive obtains other
employment.

 
11.  Successors
 

(a)           This Agreement is personal to the Executive and shall not be assignable by the Executive other than by will or the laws of descent
and distribution.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the Executive’s legal representatives.

 
(b)           This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and its successors and assigns.
 
(c)           The Company will require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or

substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to assume expressly and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same
extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place.  As used in this Agreement, the “Company” shall mean the
Company as defined and any successor to its business and/or assets which assumes and agrees to perform this Agreement by operation of law, or otherwise,
and “AWR” shall mean AWR as defined and any successor to its business and/or assets by operation of law or otherwise.

 
12.  Arbitration
 

(a)           Because it is agreed that time will be of the essence in determining whether any payments are due to the Executive under this
Agreement, the Executive may submit any claim for payment under this Agreement or dispute regarding the interpretation of this
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Agreement to arbitration.  This right to select arbitration shall be solely that of the Executive, and the Executive may decide whether or not to arbitrate in his
or her discretion.  The “right to select arbitration” is not mandatory on the Executive, and the Executive may choose in lieu thereof to bring an action in an
appropriate civil court.  Once arbitration is commenced, however, it may not be discontinued without the mutual consent of both parties to the arbitration. 
During the lifetime of the Executive only he or she can use the arbitration procedure set forth in this section.

 
(b)           Any claim for arbitration may be submitted as follows: If the Executive disagrees with the Company regarding the interpretation

of this Agreement and the claim is finally denied by the Company in whole or in part, such claim may be filed in writing with an arbitrator of the Executive’s
choice who is selected by the method described in the next three sentences. The first step of the selection shall consist of the Executive submitting a list of 5
potential arbitrators to the Company.  Each of the five arbitrators must be either (1) a member of the National Academy of Arbitrators located in the State of
California or (2) a retired California Superior Court or Appellate Court judge.  Within 2 weeks after receipt of the list, the Company shall select one of the
five arbitrators as the arbitrator for the dispute in question.  If the Company fails to select an arbitrator in a timely manner, the Executive shall then designate
one of the five arbitrators as the arbitrator for the dispute in question.



 
(c)           The arbitration hearing shall be held within 30 days (or as soon thereafter as possible) after the picking of the arbitrator.  No

continuance of the hearing shall be allowed without the mutual consent of the Executive and the Company. Absence from or nonparticipation at the hearing
by either party shall not prevent the issuance of an award.  Hearing procedures which will expedite the hearing may be ordered at the arbitrator’s discretion,
and the arbitrator
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may close the hearing at his or her discretion when sufficient evidence to satisfy issuance of an award has been presented.

 
(d)           The arbitrator’s award shall be rendered as expeditiously as possible and in no event later than 30 days after the close of the

hearing.  In the event the arbitrator finds that the Company has breached this Agreement, he or she shall order the Company to immediately take the necessary
steps to remedy the breach. The award of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the parties.  The award may be enforced in any appropriate court as
soon as possible after it is rendered.  If an action is brought to confirm the award, the Company and the Executive agree that no appeal shall be taken by either
party from any decision rendered in such action.

 
(e)           Each party will pay the fees of their respective attorneys, the expenses of their witnesses, costs of any record or transcript of the

arbitration, and any other expenses connected with the arbitration that such party might be expected to incur had the dispute been subject to resolution in
court, but all costs of the arbitration that would not be incurred by the parties if the dispute was litigated in court, including fees of the arbitrator and any
arbitration association administrative fees will be paid by the Company.

 
13.  Governing Law
 

The laws of California shall govern the validity and interpretation of this Agreement, with regard to conflicts of laws.
 

14.  Captions
 

The captions of this Agreement are not part of the provisions hereof and shall have no force or effect.
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15.  Amendment
 

This Agreement may not be amended or modified otherwise than by a written agreement executed by the parties hereto or their respective
successors and legal representatives.

 
16.  Notices
 

All notices and other communications regarding this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be hand delivered to the other party or sent by
prepaid registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed as follows:

 
If to the Executive: [                                  ]
 

[                                  ]
 

[                                  ]
If to the Company: [                                  ]
 

[                                  ]
 

[                                  ]
 

or to such other address as either party shall have furnished to the other in writing. Notice and communications shall be effective when actually received by
the addressee.
 

17.  Severability
 

The lack of validity or enforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision
of this Agreement.

 
18.  Withholding Taxes
 

The Company may withhold required federal, state, local or foreign taxes from any amounts payable under this Agreement.
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19.  No Waiver
 

The Executive’s or the Company’s failure to insist upon strict compliance with any provision of this Agreement or the failure to assert any
right the Executive or the Company may have under this Agreement, including, without limitation, the right of the Executive to terminate employment for
Good Reason, shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such provision or right or any other provision or right under this Agreement.

 
20.  At-Will Employment
 



The Executive and the Company acknowledge that, except as may otherwise be provided under any other written agreement between the
Executive and the Company, the employment of the Executive by the Company prior to the Change in Control Date is “at will” and, prior to the Change in
Control Date, the Executive’s employment may be terminated by either the Executive or the Company at any time, in which case the Executive shall have no
further rights under this Agreement. From and after the Change in Control Date, this Agreement shall supersede any other agreement between the parties with
respect to the subject matter hereof.

 
21.  Counterparts
 

                This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall
together constitute one and the same Agreement.
 

22.  Section 409A
 
If the Executive is a “specified employee” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code and the regulations thereunder, any payments required to be

pursuant to Section 6(a) or any other provision hereunder which are subject to Section 409A shall not be made until six months from
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the date of termination of employment. In no event shall any payment be made under this Agreement that would cause the Executive or the executive’s
spouse or estate to be subject to additional taxes and interest penalties under Section 409A of the Code.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the day and year first written

above in San Dimas, California.
 

 

[GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY]
  
 

[AMERICAN STATES UTILITY SERVICES, INC.]
  
 

By
  

 

Title
 

 

    
    
 

EXECUTIVE
    
   
 

[                        ]
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Exhibit 31.1
 

Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for AWR
 

I, Floyd E. Wicks, Chief Executive Officer, certify that:
 

1)              I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2005 of American States Water Company (referred to as “the
Registrant”);

 
2)              Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3)              Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4)              The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

 
a)              designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b)             designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c)              evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d)             disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
5)              The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 

a)              all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)             any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal controls

over financial reporting.
 

Dated: November 9, 2005 By: /s/ FLOYD E. WICKS
 

  

Floyd E. Wicks
  

Chief Executive Officer
 
1



Exhibit 31.1.1
 

 Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for GSWC
 

I, Floyd E. Wicks, Chief Executive Officer, certify that:
 

1)              I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2005 of Golden State Water Company (referred to as
“GSWC”);

 
2)              Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3)              Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the GSWC as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4)              GSWC’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
GSWC and have:

 
a)              designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to GSWC, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b)             evaluated the effectiveness of GSWC’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of

the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
c)              disclosed in this report any change in GSWC’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during GSWC’s most recent fiscal quarter

(GSWC’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, GSWC’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
5)              GSWC’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

GSWC’s auditors and the audit committee of GSWC’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 

a)              all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the GSWC’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)             any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in GSWC’s internal controls over

financial reporting.
 

Dated: November 9, 2005 By: /s/ FLOYD E. WICKS
 

  

Floyd E. Wicks
  

Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2
 

Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for AWR
 

I, Robert J. Sprowls, Chief Financial Officer, certify that:
 

1)              I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2005 of American States Water Company (referred to as “the
Registrant”);

 
2)              Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3)              Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4)              The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

 
a)              designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b)             designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
c)              evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
d)             disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
5)              The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 

a)              all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)             any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal controls

over financial reporting.
 

Dated: November 9, 2005 By: /s/ ROBERT J. SPROWLS
 

  

Robert J. Sprowls
  

Senior Vice President-Finance, Chief Financial
  

Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
 
1



Exhibit 31.2.1
 

Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for GSWC
 

I, Robert J. Sprowls, Chief Financial Officer, certify that:
 

1)              I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2005 of Golden State Water Company (referred to as
“GSWC”);

 
2)              Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3)              Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of GSWC as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4)              GSWC’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
GSWC and have:

 
a)              designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to GSWC, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b)             evaluated the effectiveness of GSWC’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of

the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
c)              disclosed in this report any change in GSWC’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during GSWC’s most recent fiscal quarter

(GSWC’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, GSWC’s
internal control over financial reporting.

 
5)              GSWC’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to GSWC’s

auditors and the audit committee of Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 

a)              all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect GSWC’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b)             any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in GSWC’s internal controls over

financial reporting.
 

Dated: November 9, 2005 By: /s/ ROBERT J. SPROWLS
 

  

Robert J. Sprowls
  

Senior Vice President-Finance, Chief Financial
  

Officer and Secretary
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Exhibit 32.1
 

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of American States Water Company and Golden State Water Company (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2005, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I Floyd E. Wicks, Chief
Executive Officer of the Registrant, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my
knowledge:
 
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
 
 
/s/ Floyd E. Wicks

 

 
Floyd E. Wicks
Chief Executive Officer
 
Date: November 9, 2005
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Exhibit 32.2
 

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(18 U.S.C. Section 1350)

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of American States Water Company and Golden State Water Company (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2005, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I Robert J. Sprowls, Chief
Financial Officer of the Registrant, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my
knowledge:
 
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.
 
/s/ Robert J. Sprowls

 

 
Robert J. Sprowls
Senior Vice President-Finance, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
 
Date: November 9, 2005
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